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OUR APPROACH AND AIMS
The CIPD is the professional body for HR and people
development. We’ve been setting the benchmark for excellence in
people and organisation development for more than 100 years and we’re a
career partner for over 140,000 members.
Our purpose is to champion better work and working lives by improving practices in people
and organisational development for the benefit of individuals, businesses, economies and society.
To achieve our purpose, we engage in a wide range of activities funded by member subscriptions and
income from our commercial subsidiaries. Such activities include extensive research and thought leadership,
practical advice and guidance, training courses, conferences, contribution to public policy
and media commentary.
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2015
July
We join forces with JP
Morgan to develop people
management capability in
small businesses in Hackney,
Stoke-on-Trent and Glasgow.
See page 11

Highlights

Mary Connaughton is appointed
to lead CIPD Ireland through
a new period of growth and
opportunity.

August
CIPD research reveals the UK has too
many overqualified graduates entering
non-graduate jobs.

September

October

Singapore Human Capital Summit 2015: we reveal
insights into the opportunities and challenges around
human capital reporting in south-east Asia.

10

The CIPD is invited to 10
Downing Street to champion
diverse recruitment and
progression at work.

November

We open a new CIPD hub
in Dubai to support our growing
community of members in
the Middle East in raising
professional standards
across the region.
See page 12

December
January
We launch new multimedia resources to
give members practical advice on health and well-being
after our research reveals a ‘well-being vacuum’ in the workplace.
Roseanna Cunningham, Scotland’s Cabinet Secretary for Fair
Work, Skills and Training, opens the CIPD Scotland Conference,
and we unveil Opportunity through Work: A manifesto for Scotland.
See page 13

Our new and improved online
community goes live with new
special interest groups and
Careers Clinic.

We welcome Professor Sir Cary Cooper – world
renowned for his research on workplace health
and well-being – as CIPD President, to
support us on our mission to champion
better work and working lives.

2016

A CIPD survey highlights the
need for more action by employers
to address gender inequality.

The first quarterly Middle East
and Asia editions of our popular
People Management magazine
are published.

February

We launch an interactive ‘Valuing
your Talent’ framework to help
organisations better understand and
measure the contribution of people to
business success.

Jo Swinson launches the CIPD Policy Forum in the Houses of Parliament.
See page 10

The CIPD and the Government of
Dubai announce plans to collaborate to
develop the HR profession across the
UAE and Gulf region.

We launch our first ever HR qualifications
to be delivered entirely online. The
first cohort sells out in record time and
attracts learners from 34 countries.
See page 8

16 HR leaders from Singapore’s
largest employer, PSD, complete
Group Experience Assessment,
describing the process as challenging,
enriching and rewarding.

CIPD President Professor Sir Cary Cooper
highlights concerns about workplace
presenteeism at the CIPD Ireland Conference.

March

April

May

June
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Chief Executive Peter Cheese
reflects on another year of
leading the profession that’s
shaping the future of work
How would you summarise the year?
This year, our worldwide community of members grew
to more than 140,000 HR and L&D professionals. We
achieved a great deal in terms of our support to them
in our role as their career partner and made significant
strides in raising awareness, understanding and
appreciation of the impact great HR and learning can
have on work and working lives.
We didn’t meet all of our financial targets this year,
but we really started to reap the benefits of some of
our long-term investments in our digital capabilities
and offerings. Digital technologies are crucial to our
ability not only to curate and disseminate relevant
and insightful content, but also to create collaborative
learning environments in which our growing community
of members around the world can connect and learn
from each other. This is a vital part of our role as
a professional body. Visits to our revamped online
community have more than trebled year on year, and our
new online qualifications have proven hugely popular –
particularly with students outside of the UK and Ireland.

received in response highlighted how much they’ve
valued their membership and association with the
Institute, and just how rewarding a career in HR and
L&D can be. So I’m delighted that we welcomed nearly
16,000 new student members this year too.

What are you most proud of?

Of course, we couldn’t achieve any of this without our
staff and the many volunteers and associates who work
with us. I continue to be inspired by their commitment,
their many and varied contributions, and how they are all
making a real difference to what we do and how we do it.

I’m proud to be leading a profession that’s shaping
the future of work through its commitment to
championing better work and working lives, and seeing
our growing influence and impact across organisations
and in public policy.

Each and every one of our members
plays a significant role in ensuring
that work not only creates value for
organisations but also enriches the
lives of those working for them.

We sent certificates to 5,750 individuals this year to
thank them for more than 30 years of membership and
continued service to the profession. The letters I
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It’s also a great source of pride that more and more
organisations around the world, including government
bodies such as the Federal Association of Government
HR in Dubai and the Singapore Civil Service, are
recognising the strategic value that lies in investing
in people and turning to the CIPD for help in building
confident, credible and professional HR teams.

Where would you like to have seen
more progress?
I’d like to see more HR professionals coming into
membership through our Experience Assessment route.
359 individuals came into membership through this
route during the past year, including 16 HR
leaders from Singapore’s largest employer – the
Public Service Division.
It’s an important way of recognising individuals’
existing skills, but when whole teams go through the
process together, it also helps them understand the
areas in which they need to develop further in order
to meet our rigorous professional standards – without
necessarily having to complete one of
our qualifications.
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Those involved tell us that they not only value the
professional accreditation they get at the end, but
also find the whole process enriching, developmental
and rewarding.

How would you describe the external context
in which CIPD members have been working
this year?
Many businesses and organisations are facing ongoing
cost constraint, and political and economic uncertainty
in many parts of the world is contributing to ongoing
concerns about the risks businesses face. These affect
our profession as we are often asked to do more
with less, reduce workforce costs or constrain our
investments in workforce development. In this context,
we need to continue to focus on value and outcomes,
to raise understanding and insight on the importance
of maintaining and growing capabilities in the
organisation for the future, recognising and rewarding
people appropriately and fairly, and must be able to
take a longer-term strategic view.
The topic of corporate cultures and behaviours has also
risen up the agenda, and we are engaging with regulators
as well as business leaders to help raise understanding.
HR clearly has a vital role to play, and must be able
to demonstrate how their expertise in people and
organisational behaviour can really make a difference.

Who are the CIPD’s main stakeholders and
how did you serve their needs this year?

As a charity, we exist to champion
better work and working lives
for the benefit of individuals,
businesses, economies and society
as a whole.

The work of our members is critical to fulfilling this
purpose, and we’ve continued to develop our content,
capabilities, systems and processes to better support
them in their careers, as well as helping to lead the way
by investing in the future of the profession.
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But in order to continue to build our voice and impact
and that of the profession, we also work with a wide
range of other stakeholders, including business leaders,
policy-makers, thought leaders and academics, to
create the conditions in which our members’ expertise
is recognised and valued. Our new Senior Policy Forum
and Future of Work is Human community are two prime
examples of how we’ve really upped the ante in this
respect this year.
Our own staff and volunteers are important
stakeholders too – not just because we couldn’t meet
the needs of other stakeholders without them, but
also because as an employer we have a direct impact
on their working lives and we’re responsible for their
fulfilment, happiness and well-being at work.

What’s on the CIPD’s agenda for the
year ahead?
A big focus for the year ahead will be on developing
our new Professional Standards Framework and
extending our digital capabilities to deliver better
services and support to our members, including fullydigital training and qualifications and better access to
content. We’ll also be pushing hard on key areas such
as business reporting and transparency, policy areas
such as apprenticeships, diversity and inclusion, wellbeing and engagement, and playing a leading role in
the debates about the many factors impacting the
future of work. We’re also working to make sure the
CIPD itself is agile, focused and fit for the future. We’re
looking at areas where we can simplify our business
and ensure we continue to generate sufficient surplus
to invest in our core purpose and vision for the HR and
L&D profession.

What’s the biggest challenge or opportunity
for CIPD members in the year ahead?
Many of our members, particularly those working
for organisations worried about the impact of the
UK’s vote to leave Europe, are likely to come under
increasing pressure to cut costs and help their
workforces deliver more for less. For some, this may
involve supporting employees through difficulties such
as redundancies.
Throughout these challenging times, the HR and L&D
profession needs to really grasp the opportunity to
help organisations understand what it takes to become
more resilient, agile and productive, creating value
for the longer term and not just cutting costs for the
short term. This will mean keeping our skills up to date,
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looking outside our own organisations to learn and find
support from others in our professional community.
At the CIPD, we’ll continue flying the flag for greater
transparency in human capital reporting and encouraging
organisations to take a longer-term view of the workforce
and the capabilities they need for the future.
By better understanding how value is created and
destroyed in an organisation, and how this links to the
organisation’s purpose and strategic priorities, we can
seek to increase that value over time and make sound
decisions about where, when and how to invest in our
people and organisational capabilities. This challenge
is rising up the corporate agenda, with regulators and
external stakeholder representatives – such as the UK’s
Financial Reporting Council and Investors Association
– putting more and more pressure on boards to take
greater accountability for the contribution of people
and culture to business success. Governments are also
putting increasing pressure on businesses to increase
transparency and encouraging, or even demanding,
better and fairer people practices as the vital
ingredients in better business. Businesses everywhere,
with the challenge and support of HR, need to step
up to these new realities.
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Supporting careers and building
professionalism in HR and L&D
A growing community of professionals
Our members tell us that feeling part of a wider
community of HR and L&D professionals is one of the
key benefits they glean from their membership. So we’re
pleased to report that the community grew to 142,137
members this year – just shy of our target of 142,843.

142,137
members

including 52,466 with
Chartered status

Overall growth was 1.6%, and membership in our
international markets grew by 6.1% – with particularly
strong growth in Ireland, the Middle East and Asia,
where we’ve invested in new teams and offices to
support those members.
We’re proud to be a career partner for HR and L&D
professionals at all stages of their career. During the
course of the year:
• We welcomed 15,827 students into membership,
taking our total student pool to 23,078 and
representing 9.2% growth in student recruitment.
A series of dedicated conferences in London,
Manchester, Glasgow and Birmingham provided
extra opportunities for these aspiring professionals
to pick up advice on developing a successful career
in HR or L&D.
• We welcomed 359 experienced HR and L&D
professionals into membership through the
Experience Assessment route and a further 258
took this route to upgrade to a higher level of
membership. Candidates tell us that they not only
appreciate the opportunity to have their existing
skills and experience recognised without having to
study one of our qualifications, but that they also find
the whole process developmental and enriching.
• We helped 701 members upgrade to Chartered
Member or Chartered Fellow to reflect their level of
experience and professionalism and increase their
credibility and influence at work.
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5,750

HR and L&D professionals
recognised for 30+ years’
continued membership

• We celebrated the commitment to continuing
professional development of 5,750 individuals
who’ve been in membership for more than 30
years. Many of these members, some now retired
from paid employment, continue to play a valuable
role in our professional community by sharing
their knowledge and experience through various
voluntary activities.

Developing the best HR teams
The CIPD plays an important role in helping members
and their entire HR teams be the best they can be.
We’ve worked with hundreds of HR leaders in the
UK, Ireland, the Middle East and Asia during the past
year – from organisations including Tarmac, M&S,
the UK’s Civil Service and Singapore’s Public Service
Division – to professionalise their HR teams and build
people management and leadership skills across
their organisations. We also broke new ground this
year when the Royal Pharmaceutical Society selected
the CIPD to create a bespoke leadership and people
management development programme to prepare
England’s pharmacists to take on a wider remit for
community healthcare. Seventy pharmacists have taken
part in the programme to date and an independent
evaluation by Kingston University has recommended a
national rollout.

Continuing professional development
All CIPD members must demonstrate their commitment
to continuing professional development (CPD) – it’s
the key to a successful career, an important part of
what it means to be a professional and a requirement
of CIPD membership.
This year we mapped out a new CPD cycle to
encourage members to think more strategically about
their CPD and dispel the myth that it’s an arduous and
time-consuming box-ticking process. We also piloted
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two different CPD management tools to help determine
what our members need to support their CPD journey
and how we could streamline our CPD audit process.
Fifteen hundred individuals from 44 countries took
part in the pilots and it proved to be an excellent
consultation exercise. It helped to raise awareness
of our CPD policy and we’re now far more aware
of what our members expect from a CPD tool. Our
evaluation concluded that there’s clearly an appetite
for a CPD tool, but neither pilot tool was fit for purpose.
Specifically, pilot users wished to learn from each other
but neither tool had any overt collaborative or social
capability. We are now planning to trial a different tool
which offers more of the functionality our members find
valuable, including being able to access curated content
as well as capturing their own content.

of our website each year. This year, we re-launched on
a new platform with a series of new modern features,
making it even easier for members to find relevant
content and learn from one another, and introduced
a new Careers Clinic open to both members and nonmembers. The investment has clearly paid off, with
monthly visits consistently more than double what they
were prior to re-launch and the total number of visitors
for the year reaching 74,000.

Putting the human back into HR
A key focus of our work in recent years has been on
putting the human back into HR. In other words, helping
HR professionals get back to their roots by focusing on
the unique insights we can offer organisations by looking
at workplace issues through a behavioural science lens.

Meanwhile, the CIPD Career Hub has continued to be a
popular source of inspiration for our members’ learning
and development. Members frequently tell us that the
range of resources on our website are invaluable to
them in keeping up to date with the profession. We
scaled up our range of career management tools this
year too, including webinars, workshops and mentoring
schemes, following a series of successful pilots in
2014–15. We also produced a five-part podcast series
in collaboration with CEB, based on research into new
approaches to career management.

Breaking down barriers to learning
Online learning is proving to be a popular way to
develop the knowledge and skills needed for a successful
career in HR and L&D – particularly for leaders who
want to give their geographically dispersed teams the
opportunity to learn together. More than 300 learners
from 34 different countries signed up for our first fullydigital Certificate and Diploma in L&D in its first year,
and our new online HR qualifications have proven even
more popular – with 392 learners signed up in the first
two months. By the close of the financial year, 614 L&D
professionals had also subscribed to our new Future
of Learning Hub, where they can learn from content
curated by their peers, as well as get access to live
webinars from thought leaders and bite-sized content
about the science of human behaviour and learning, data
and analytics in learning and new approaches to L&D.
The hub acts as a one-stop-shop for L&D professionals’
continuing professional development, and CIPD students
get the chance to gain a digital CPD badge on completion.

For example, our first ever Science of Human Behaviour
Conference and Workshop shed light on the relevance
of neuroscience in the workplace, and our research on
executive pay this year explored how the way we reward
our leaders encourages certain types of behaviour and
can have a corrosive effect on employee motivation and
productivity.

Our online community platform has been a valuable
source of learning for members for some 12 years, and in
recent years around 40,000 members visited this area
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Building a Profession for the Future
A major piece of research we launched this year helped us
answer some important questions about what it will take
for the HR profession to continue championing better
work and working lives as the world of work evolves.

Throughout the year, we’ve consulted with a wide
range of people – members, business leaders, policymakers and other experts – to help us define those
principles. They are a set of fundamental beliefs that,
in any situation, will help the HR professionals of the
future make good decisions that take the needs of a
range of stakeholders into account, even in the most
difficult or unprecedented circumstances.
We’ll be sharing these aspirational principles with
you very soon, and asking you what we need to do to
support you in implementing them. This will help us
develop a Professional Standards Framework that will
make it clear what it means to be an HR professional,
and how we expect our members to apply the
principles in practice.

9 in 10 say
that long-term goals
are more important
than short-term gains, but
in practice, only 1 in 4 are
actually prepared to make
short-term sacrifices for
long-term gains

Keep an eye on our changing world of work community
group for details of how to get involved:
cipd.co.uk/workischanging

Our survey of more than 10,000 HR practitioners
and business leaders, combined with insights from
focus groups and a range of experts, highlighted a
gap between ambition and practice when it comes to
ethical decision-making in business.
We concluded that it’s time to create a set of guiding
principles to clearly articulate what HR’s purpose is,
what we stand for, and what really defines us as a
profession. You can read the research at cipd.co.uk/pff

1 in 3 reported they
have to compromise
their principles
to meet current
business needs

What defines an HR professional?

Expert body of
knowledge
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Societal and ethical
responsibility

Situational
judgement
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Raising the status and value of the HR
and L&D profession
Giving HR a voice

Engaging with policy-makers

We appeared in the news a total of 4,328 times during
the last year, championing the views and expertise
of our members 12 times per day on average (an 18%
increase in our profile year on year). Forty-one per
cent of members told us they’d noticed this significant
growth in our media profile, which not only helps us
raise awareness and understanding of important HR
and workplace topics, but also helps to open doors
with policy-makers, ensure HR’s voice is heard and
raise our members’ status as credible experts on the
world of work.

2016 saw the launch of our Senior Policy Forum,
chaired by former Business and Equalities Minister
Jo Swinson, to formalise the opportunities for senior
CIPD members to feed into our engagement with
policy-makers in the UK. One hundred and twenty
senior HR directors from private, public and third
sector organisations, including HSBC, the National
Health Service and the British Heart Foundation, have
contributed to our recommendations to policy-makers
on the apprenticeship levy, the National Living Wage
and productivity. Following the UK’s vote to leave the
EU, the group is shifting its attention to immigration
and employment law and will be critical to ensuring
that the CIPD is the first port of call for policy-makers
wanting to understand the issues affecting work and
working lives.

CIPD experts provided a range of print and broadcast
media outlets with insights and commentary on topics
including:
• well-being in the workplace
• a behavioural science perspective on spiralling
executive pay
• the implications of Brexit for business and the world
of work
• overqualification and skills mismatches in the UK’s
graduate labour market
• the future of talent in Singapore.

Our media profile is strongest
in the UK and Ireland, but is
also growing in south-east Asia
and other parts of the world.

This not only helps us to raise awareness and
understanding of important HR and workplace topics,
but also helps to open doors with policy-makers and
ensure HR’s voice is heard in important decisions about
workplace policy and regulation.
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This year we also launched CIPD Voice, a new online
newsletter that highlights research and commentary
from the CIPD’s Public Policy Team. As well as
helping members keep up to date on developments
in the world of work, the featured articles encourage
discussion and provide further opportunity for
members to share their views on public policy.

The future of work is human
To fulfil our purpose of championing better work
and working lives, we must ensure that work creates
value for everyone. Over the past year we’ve built a
400-strong community of business leaders, policymakers, academics, media, NGOs and HR professionals
– all united by a fascination with the future of work and
a determination to shift the debate away from the idea
that progress comes through technology alone towards
the conviction that we can and must make the future of
work a better, more human place.
We brought these people together at a series of events
throughout the year to discuss challenging questions
and spark new ideas about the future of work, and
in May 2016 we established an online community at
futureworkishuman.org to provide a medium for
ongoing discussion and debate. It’s a melting pot of
lively discussions, thought-provoking content and
insightful blogs and articles from leaders across the
worlds of HR, business and academia.
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Developing people skills in SMEs
Nearly 30% of people working in the private sector
work for small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs),
most of which have no dedicated HR team. So, in May
2015, we launched a live research project to build our
knowledge base about the kind of HR support SMEs
need and to assess the difference it can make to the
success of their businesses.

One-off funding from JP Morgan
enabled us to recruit and pay for
20 CIPD members to offer free
HR advice to around 350 small
businesses in Glasgow, Stoke on
Trent and Hackney.

Researchers from Manchester Metropolitan University
have been measuring the impact this HR support has
had on the SMEs’ business outcomes and we’ll be
publishing the findings in 2017.

Valuing your Talent
Working with our Valuing your Talent (VYT) partners,
we launched a new interactive framework this year
to help organisations understand and measure the
contribution of people to business performance.
It’s hosted on a new, dedicated VYT website which
brings together insights from our ongoing research as
well as case studies exploring how organisations are
approaching human capital measurement and reporting
in practice. There’s a range of content to encourage
employers to invest more strategically in their people
and to help investors recognise human capital as a
fundamental element of business strategy.
We’ve already reached a wide audience of HR and
finance professionals via traditional and social media
and through events and conferences in the UK, the
Middle East, Asia and the USA. The next step is to
convene a team of CFOs, HRDs, CEOs, chairmen,
investors and other key influencers and stakeholders
to champion the programme and lead a movement of
change towards better human capital measurement
and reporting – and ultimately greater investment in HR
and learning.
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Broadening our reach and relevance
How would you summarise the year?

CIPD Asia

Throughout the year, we’ve continued to extend our
efforts to champion better work and working lives
beyond the UK, with a particular focus on Ireland,
the Middle East and Asia. We’ve also worked hard to
increase our relevance in Scotland, Wales and Northern
Ireland, where our members face unique challenges and
opportunities compared with those in England.

Our hub in Singapore, launched in January 2014 to
build our presence in south-east Asia, went from
strength to strength during the past year. We reached
over 1,000 HR professionals at 22 CIPD-hosted events
throughout the year, and a further 4,000 through our
presence at third-party events, including the Singapore
HR Summit and the Hong Kong Institute of HRM’s
Annual Conference and Exhibition. Our new quarterly
magazine, People Management Asia, has also helped us
broaden our reach, strengthen our relationships with
HR professionals in the region and stimulate new ones.

CIPD Middle East
November 2015 saw the launch of our new CIPD
hub in Dubai. We now have a full team in place
serving nearly 2,800 members and helping to raise
professional standards across the Middle East. Weekly
HR news bulletins, our new quarterly magazine, People
Management Middle East, and a series of conferences
and networking events have been helping us to engage
with HR professionals and build strong face-to-face and
digital communities across the region.
We’ve built a number of relationships with employers
and government organisations to help them
professionalise their HR teams, including a formal
partnership with Dubai Government Human Resources,
which co-ordinates HR policy across more than
40 government departments with around 40,000
employees in total. We also continue to collaborate
closely with our existing partners at the Federal
Authority of Human Resources in the UAE.
In May 2016 we launched the CIPD Professional
Development Partner programme to support
organisations across the region who are keen to
professionalise their HR function and align these
efforts with the CIPD’s international standards. Our first
clients to take up this new regional service include the
Executive Council of Dubai and DP World.
We’ve also been focused on increasing the choices
available for HR professionals based in the Gulf
Cooperation Council (GCC) region who want to study
CIPD qualifications or attend our short training courses.
The planning process for this was completed in June
2016 – and we are now preparing to launch a number
of new study centres and strategic partnerships in the
new financial year.
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Our report on the future of talent in
Singapore played a significant role
in raising the profile of the CIPD
and the HR profession in south-east
Asia this year.

The report secured impressive media coverage –
including the Straits Times and Business Times – and
generated lots of interest with employers keen to use
the insights to help future-proof their businesses.
This year also saw us partner with SMU, one of
Singapore’s most prestigious business schools, to
deliver a new flagship master’s degree in Human
Capital Leadership in conjunction with Wharton
University, and we continued to work with a range of
organisations in the Asia Pacific region, helping them to
develop their HR capabilities. For example, we worked
with Ooredoo, an international telecommunications
company, to develop the competencies of its HR and
L&D functions in Myanmar; we were asked by Total
Exploration and Production Indonesia (TEPI) to help
professionalise its HR function; Shell appointed us to
train its junior HR staff across east Asia and the Middle
East in foundational HR competencies; and National
University Health Systems (NUHS), one of the premier
state-owned hospitals in Singapore, reached out to
the CIPD to help develop its HR business partnering
skills. A repeat customer, Asian Development Bank,
having witnessed the transformation of its HR staff
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thanks to CIPD qualifications, is again rolling out CIPD
qualifications to a fresh cohort of 32 HR professionals
based in Manila.

CIPD Ireland
In July 2015, we appointed Mary Connaughton as
Director for CIPD Ireland, following the retirement of
Managing Director Michael McDonnell. She’s tasked
with leading CIPD Ireland into its next phase of growth
through greater engagement with members and building
strategic relationships with key government departments,
professional bodies and HR leaders. Key successes this
year included engaging with over 2,500 members at
events around the country, growing the CIPD’s media
coverage in Ireland and hosting a joint session on
leadership with the Irish Defence Forces new Chief of
Staff Vice Admiral Mellett and the CIPD’s Peter Cheese.

More than 5,000 CIPD
members live and work in
Ireland’s growing economy.
We’ve expanded the CIPD team based in Dublin to
help strengthen the links between CIPD membership,
branches and educational centres. Throughout the
year they hosted a series of successful conferences,
thought leadership workshops and HR leaders
networking events. The CIPD Ireland Annual Conference
in June 2016 was a huge success, with more than 300
delegates. CIPD President Professor Sir Cary Cooper
highlighted the costs of poor mental health and wellbeing at work, advising on how to build less stressful
work environments.

CIPD Wales
In September 2015, we established a new team, led by
Head of CIPD Wales Lesley Richards, to strengthen and
support the work of our volunteer network in Wales.
While the volunteer-run branches continue to offer a
full programme of events for members, the CIPD Wales
team is tasked with enabling greater member outreach
and encouraging closer collaboration with local policymakers and employers. A new HR Leaders Network
has provided a much welcomed opportunity for senior
practitioners in Wales to engage with the CIPD, and a
series of roadshows is enabling us to reach members in
some of the more remote areas of Wales.
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In June 2016, we published a policy programme for
Wales entitled ‘Opportunity through Work’. Drawing
on experience of colleagues in the CIPD’s Public Policy
Team, the CIPD Wales team have been able to advise the
Welsh Local Government Association on senior executive
pay and engage with Regional Skills Partnerships across
Wales, providing an opportunity for CIPD members to
contribute. The team has also been invited to sit on the
Wales Strategic Forum for Career Development.

CIPD Scotland and Northern Ireland
In Scotland and Northern Ireland, thanks to the combined
efforts of volunteers and a new team of full-time staff,
we’ve made great progress in building the profile of
the HR and L&D profession and creating a feeling of
connection and collaboration among local members.
We hosted a series of locally relevant events and
workshops throughout the year, as well as increased
our engagement with local policy-makers. For
example, Skills Development Scotland commissioned
us to deliver a series of career transition workshops
to help North Sea oil and gas industry professionals
adjust to the challenging environment in which
they’re working and, during Offshore Week Europe,
we hosted an event in Aberdeen on building trust and
resilience. In Northern Ireland we worked with the Civil
Service Commissioners, Institute of Leadership and
Management and Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants to help raise awareness of the insights
gleaned from our Head for Hiring and Valuing your
Talent research.
Our Scotland’s Skilled Future campaign and report
has helped CIPD Scotland establish itself as a key
commentator and contributor to public policy in
Scotland – during the past year we gave evidence
to enquiries on ethnic diversity in the workplace, the
devolution of welfare to work agenda and Scotland’s
plans for the apprenticeship levy. The CIPD Scotland
Annual Conference in March 2016 focused on the crucial
role of HR in building productivity and stepping up
the skills vision for Scotland. Roseanna Cunningham,
Scotland’s Cabinet Secretary for Fair Work, Skills and
Training, opened the conference and we unveiled
Opportunity through Work: A manifesto for Scotland,
which has opened doors to further political engagement.
In Northern Ireland, we’ve been building relationships
with senior public sector and government officials and,
going forward, we will be opening discussions with the
Department for Employment and Learning of Northern
Ireland and the Labour Relations Agency.
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The secrets to our success: our people
and infrastructure
The work of a membership body like ours is extremely knowledge-intensive and our success in championing better work
and working lives is made possible by the strength of our brand and reputation. Our people are our brand, so it’s no cliché
to say that we couldn’t achieve all that we do at the CIPD without the continued commitment of our employees, volunteers
and associates, who all share a huge sense of pride in helping to fulfil our purpose.

Where does our expertise lie?

Who are we?

To be an effective professional membership body, we
rely on a continuous flow of research and innovation into
the future of work, which feeds into the development
of our qualifications syllabus as well as the continuing
professional development (CPD) products and services
we offer our members. In addition to this, we care
passionately about promoting the professionalism of
our members and their employability in the world; so
we invest a lot in providing an outstanding membership
experience, from people just beginning to study for
their career in HR and people development through
to reaching the pinnacle of their career. To do that
successfully means that we also need to be very good
at engaging with employers, governments and other
professions who depend on people in HR and people
development roles.

We’re fortunate to count more than 1,500 individuals
who dedicate their time to working with the CIPD.
This includes a total of 379 employees across our
offices in the UK, Ireland, Singapore and Dubai.
A further 205 paid associates help deliver some
of our training and consultancy services, and 987
volunteers give their time freely in a variety of roles,
including board trustees, governance committees and
membership upgrade assessors.

Our employees work in a variety of roles from customer
service assistants in our contact centre, experts in quality
assurance for our qualifications, and research and policy
advisers who help maintain our position as thought
leaders on the world of work. We also rely on solid
capability in a range of support functions, such as IT,
marketing and finance. This year, we’ve invested
in a variety of new roles at our headquarters
145,000
to increase our digital and strategic editorial
capabilities, as well as new roles in our
140,000
regional and international offices.
135,000

Our staff numbers have grown slowly but consistently
in recent years, at a similar rate to the growth in our
membership (see Figure 1). But as we start to simplify
and focus our operating model over the coming years,
in line with our Future Fit Strategy (see page 20), this is
not a trend that we expect to continue.
Our unplanned turnover of people has remained stable
at around 15% for a number of years. This is on a par
with the UK national average for organisations of our
size, and we consider this a healthy level of turnover
for such a diverse organisation with people working in
multiple disciplines.
Members

Full-time equivalent

Number of employees

400
350
300

130,000
125,000

250

120,000

200

115,000
110,000

150

105,000

100

100,000
Jun 11

Jun 12

Jun 13

Jun 14

Jun 15

Figure 1: Our workforce and our members
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Volunteers

A new cross-CIPD volunteer management group has
developed joint promotional materials outlining the ways
in which members can get involved in a wide variety
of volunteering initiatives, and is now working towards
a more integrated volunteer management strategy.
We’ve already started a project to ensure we have the
right support in place to help our branch volunteers
better align their work with CIPD strategy, including a
new business plan process which has helped volunteers
engage with us more effectively.

Our network of nearly 1,000 volunteers continues to play
an integral role in giving the CIPD a voice at a local level
and supporting us in upholding our high professional
standards by assessing members or investigating
concerns relating to our Code of Professional Conduct.
Six hundred committee members and a further 300 local
volunteers support our network of 52 branches across
the UK and Ireland. Representatives from each branch
make up the CIPD’s advisory Council, which
plays an important role in the governance of the CIPD
(see page 29). Fifty volunteers help us to uphold our
Code of Professional Conduct and 39 volunteers help us
to assess members’ skills and experience against
our rigorous standards.

Diversity and inclusion
Like any business, to achieve our ambitions we need a
diverse workforce with different skills and perspectives.
The make-up of our workforce in terms of age, gender
and ethnicity (see Figures 2–7) broadly reflects the
characteristics of our members, but we also aspire to
ensure that our workforce also reflects the communities
in which we are based.

Thousands more also volunteer their time and expertise
in support of wider community initiatives overseen by
the CIPD’s Community Investment Team. For example:
• 3,778 members volunteer for our Steps Ahead
Mentoring programme. They have continued to
mainly support young (aged 18–24) jobseekers
and we also ran two successful pilots with
jobseekers aged 50+ and parent returners to
work. We have increased the support available to
mentors by introducing two new training webinars
and developing a network of 22 Steps Ahead
Ambassadors, who volunteer to promote the
programme in their local area. Mentors were also
invited to our Steps Ahead Mentoring summit.
• Ninety-six members took part in a successful pilot
we ran with the Enterprise Adviser programme,
where we matched HR professionals with schools to
help them understand the local labour market and
develop their careers education strategies. We aim
to roll this out further in 2016–17.
• Twenty volunteers provided HR support to small
charities in a pilot we ran in collaboration with Team
London’s Skill-Up initiative.
During the past year, we conducted an in-depth review
of our current volunteer management practices and
surveyed our members to understand more about
what motivates them to volunteer. Fifty-seven per
cent of CIPD members told us we could make CIPD
volunteering opportunities more visible, and 47% said
that they wanted more strategic-level volunteering
opportunities. We’re working hard to make this a reality
and to demonstrate the wide value that our members
can bring to society.
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Figure 2: Overall gender profile of our workforce, by year
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Figure 3: Gender profile by job band, 2015–16
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Our workforce has been predominantly female for a
number of years. The exception is in the leadership roles,
where a more even male/female split is apparent. Given
that the UK employment rate – according to the Office
for National Statistics (ONS) – is 10% higher for men
than women, we are proud to be providing so many
opportunities for women in work.

16–24

Asian

Black

Mixed/Multiple ethnicity

Other ethnic groups

Unknown

35–49

50–64

64+ years

100

Seventy-two per cent of our workforce is British,
with the remaining workforce drawn from at least 18
nationalities. Just under 10% of our employees are
from EU countries outside the UK so, as with most
UK employers, we anticipate that the UK’s exit from
the European Union will impact us. It’s still too early
to say what it will mean for our employees, but we
highly value the expertise and commitment EU workers
bring to the CIPD and we are committed to supporting
anyone who may be affected by keeping them well
informed about their employment rights and offering
White

25–34
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0
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2013
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UK

Figure 6: The age diversity of our workforce compared
with the UK’s economically active population
support and guidance to those who wish to apply for
British citizenship.
While a significant proportion of employees (8.7%)
have not disclosed their ethnicity, 74% of our people
have reported their ethnicity as white, with the
remaining workforce made up predominantly of Asian
and black employees, as shown in Figure 5.

2012

Both median (39) and mean (39.6) ages of CIPD staff
are comparable with the general UK population (average
age 40 according to the ONS), but we do have a higher
percentage of middle-aged workers, reflecting our being
a knowledge-based organisation. We’re keen to provide
career opportunities at the CIPD and our 16–24-year-old
workforce is slowly increasing, but currently remains
lower than the population as a whole.
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Figure 4: The ethnic make-up of our workforce
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Figure 7: Average age on starting, by financial year

Figure 5: The nationalities that make up our workforce (%)
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How do we work?
Our work at the CIPD is underpinned by our PACE
values (see below).
A culture of learning
While our financial investment in staff development
during the year remained relatively low (less than
1% of payroll was spent on training), we maintain a
strong learning culture and provide a wide range of
opportunities for people to learn, develop and progress
their careers, including mentoring and coaching,
an online virtual learning environment and regular
‘discovery hours’. We formally recognised 11 people’s
development and career progression with internal
promotions last year, and 9 individuals took advantage
of secondments to gain new skills and experiences.
Many more also took on a range of new roles and
responsibilities and nearly 100 people paired up in our
internal mentoring scheme to help address their own
development goals.
During ‘Learning at Work Week’ in May, we once
again ran a successful programme of informal and
interactive 30-minute learning sessions designed to
raise awareness of the learning and development
opportunities and resources available to staff. We
also launched a new ‘Learning Space’ on our intranet,
to encourage staff to take ownership of their career
progression and incorporate peer-to-peer learning
into their everyday work.

We have clear goals, we don’t sit on the
fence and we finish what we start.

We’re responsive and 			
we think on our feet.

We’re united and know we’re better together.

PACE

We know our stuff and we have a point of view.

This year more than 44 individuals and 18
teams were nominated by their colleagues
for an award to recognise that they are
a role model for one or more of
these values.
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This year we also developed a new principles-based
leadership approach called ‘Leading the CIPD Way’.
This will open up opportunities for our people to
progress their leadership capability in line with the
growing aspirations of the organisation and our people.
Flexible working
Flexible working is an important part of our culture
for many of our employees. It enables them to
successfully balance the demands of their role with
their commitments outside of work and holds us true
to championing better work and working lives. Twenty
per cent of our employees work part-time,¹ four
employees take part in job-shares and many more work
flexible hours in agreement with their line managers.
Six members of staff are officially homeworkers and
many more work from home on a regular basis. All
of our employees have the right to request flexible
working patterns and for the most part we are able to
accommodate those requests. This year we’ve worked
hard to raise awareness of the different kinds of flexible
working options available to our people, through
an internal communications campaign which saw
employees sharing their experiences of working flexibly
and of managing teams who work flexibly.

Health and well-being
The physical and mental health and well-being of our
staff is imperative – not only because it affects our
productivity and ability to succeed, but also because
we care about our people. It’s a vital component of our
mission to champion better work and working lives.
Our regular health and well-being days at our head
office promote the variety of ways in which our
employees can stay fit and healthy and the range of
benefits we offer to our workforce.
Our strong well-being culture means that when we
have seen our recorded absence levels decreasing over
time, and tracking comfortably below the national
average for the UK (see Figure 8), we are assured that
this trend is not likely to be masking a culture where
our people come into work when they are unwell. We
work hard to develop our line managers’ understanding
of the signs to watch out for to ensure that declining
absence levels are not related to presenteeism.
UK average*

10

What makes us a great place to work?

8

Employee engagement
A healthy, happy and engaged workforce is an
important indicator of our success as an organisation
and a sign that our Investors in People (IIP) Gold status
is well deserved. We run a wide range of initiatives
throughout the year to enable health, well-being and
engagement.

6

We are always looking at innovative ways to review our
progress and find out what our employees think. This
year we began experimenting with periodical monthly
pulse polls consisting of topical measures from our
well-established Employee Outlook survey. Around
a third of employees responded to each poll, and
examples of the insights we gleaned include:
• 84% either agree or strongly agree that their
manager cares about their well-being.
• 74% either agree or strongly agree that they would
recommend the CIPD as a great place to work.

CIPD employees

X

4
2
0
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2013

2014

2015

2016

Figure 8: Average days of absence per employee per year
We’ve seen a clear increase in reported incidents of
sickness due to mental health (including stress) over
the last two years, but the overall level of sickness
absence has remained steady. We believe this is
because of our efforts in recent years to encourage
people to feel more comfortable to talk about mental
well-being. We’ll continue to monitor the situation and
promote well-being in working lives.

¹ Less than 35 hours per week
* According to the CIPD’s annual Absence Management survey
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Pay and reward
While pay is not usually the main motivator for people
working for a not-for-profit organisation like ours, our
ethos is to reward people fairly and competitively for
the work they do. Therefore, it’s important that our
total benefits package enables us to attract and retain
the skills we need to succeed.
We assess and reward the performance of our
employees in a variety of ways. For example, as well
as regular discussions about individual performance
and our annual pay award process, we also awarded
178 people with one-off payments as part of our
STARS scheme last year. These payments provide
more immediate recognition to those who go above
and beyond the requirements of their role and are
equivalent to one, two or five days’ pay.
We are a Living Wage Employer and our salaries are
benchmarked against the sectors in which we compete
for recruitment purposes. The minimum CIPD salary is
£17,108, the average (median) salary is £32,920 and our
chief executive earns a salary of £250,000. This gives a
maximum ratio of 14.6 and an average ratio of 7.6, which
we consider a healthy ratio considering the demands
and high-profile nature of the role and the ambitious
agenda with which our chief executive is tasked.
On average (based on mean salaries, and using the
methodology listed in the draft gender pay reporting
legislation), women at the CIPD earn 14.2% less than
men. But it’s important to note that this figure is
skewed by the fact that we employ more women than
men (when we consider median salaries instead of
mean, our gender pay gap closes to 6.7%). The fact
that we have a male chief executive also accentuates
our gender pay gap: if our chief executive was female,
our gender pay gap based on mean salaries would drop
to 7.7%, or 6.2% based on median salaries.
In line with our wider commitment to diversity and
inclusion, we will continue to monitor pay to ensure
that there is no unconscious or conscious bias towards
either gender.
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Future-proofing our business
Strategic alignment

5 fostering a strong sense of community and connection
among our members and other stakeholders

In February 2016 the Board challenged the CIPD’s
Executive Team to look at ways to bring greater focus
and simplification to the work we do, so that we can
build a stronger professional body focused on helping
our members and others to champion better work and
working lives.

6 growing our international presence to meet the needs
of an increasingly global workforce.
Over the past financial year, we placed a particular
emphasis on increasing our impact and voice, as well as
developing clearer routes to professional excellence and
career development. Indeed, a wholesale review of our
strategy and business model this year confirmed that the
two most important things a professional body such as
the CIPD should focus on are:

Six strategic priorities provided a focus for our work over
the past four years:
1 increasing our impact and voice by advancing and
sharing knowledge of the world of work

• building professionalism

2 becoming more relevant and valuable to a wider
range of audiences

• ensuring the value of that professionalism
is recognised and appreciated by all of our
stakeholders (that is, building ‘professional capital’).

3 developing clearer routes to professional excellence
and career development
4 working with leaders to build the best HR capability
for their business

Our role as a professional body
Building professionalism

Building professional capital
Leading change by giving the
profession a strong voice in debates
about the world of work

Setting standards
Curating a common body of
knowledge that can easily be
assessed against a Professional
Standards Framework
Supporting and governing our
members’ commitments to CPD
and Code of Professional Conduct

Advancing the body of knowledge
through research and insights

Enabled by:
Operational excellence

Strengthening the value of the
profession in society

Talent
Financial strength
Guiding and supporting
ethical practice

Exemplifying good governance
and delivery of public value

Developing communities and
fostering professional identity
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Enabling access and reach
through excellent, relevant
freemium content and
subscriber propositions
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Aligning our work with these two areas of focus will
entail some significant changes to certain parts of
our business, and we’ve begun consulting with CIPD
staff regarding the best way to achieve our goals.
We’ve reviewed all areas of our business model and
identified activities that are not aligned with either
our core purpose, core capabilities or unique source
of competitive advantage. We are working through
our options to decide whether to stop those activities
altogether, or find new ways to deliver those services
via external partners.
Regardless of any changes we make, we know we will
continue to focus on:
• advancing our body of knowledge by producing
thought-leading research
• strengthening our continuing professional
development (CPD) services
• developing our business-to-consumer (B2C)
membership proposition
• building our business-to-business (B2B)
relationships with employers
• international growth, with a focus on Ireland, the
Middle East and south-east Asia
• improving our digital capabilities
• exploring new areas and opportunities including
development, assessment, licensing and a more
strategically focused freemium and subscription
content model.
In implementing these proposed changes to our
business models, we may not be able to completely
mitigate the risk of job losses but we are committed
to minimising the impact on our staff and, by futureproofing our business, we anticipate that new
opportunities will open up in the medium to long term.

Operational excellence
The long-term changes to our business model identified
during the strategic review will go a long way to futureproofing our organisation. But a sustainable future for
the CIPD will also depend on operational excellence
in the form of simplified structures and processes, a
healthy financial performance and the development of
our people and our organisation.
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During the last financial year we’ve already taken a
number of steps to improve our efficiency, including
better integration of our budgeting and business
planning processes, as well as establishing new internal
governance boards. Our focus during the first half of
the 2016–17 financial year will be on looking for further
opportunities for the business to be more efficient and
effective, as well as making some major cost savings
to protect our surplus, given that we haven’t been able
to grow our revenue as quickly in recent years as we
have done in the past. This may entail removing some
existing vacant roles and potentially making some roles
redundant, but we are determined to minimise job losses
wherever possible, by identifying other opportunities in
the business, and we’ll continue to develop our people
so that they’re able to take on new roles that emerge. A
collective consultation process will ensure that we can
take the views of our people into account throughout
this change programme.

Digital infrastructure and capabilities
During the 2015–16 financial year, we placed digital
transformation at the heart of our strategic decisionmaking and investment spend. We’ve embraced the
opportunities that the incredible speed of change in
the digital landscape has brought about, adopting new
technology, processes and capabilities to support the
profession, enhance our voice and improve our agility.
Like many organisations, we’ve historically seen spend
on technology as a cost rather than an investment, but
last year saw a conscious change in that mindset: to one
that now sees digital as a core part of our future growth
plans, and critical to our ability to grow our impact and
extend our reach internationally. With this in mind we
appointed a Head of Digital, set up a Digital Projects
Board for oversight and put in place a Digital Academy –
a programme of training and development to provide a
platform for enhancing the digital skills of our people.
We have also started an ambitious programme of
work to build modern, flexible, integrated technology
platforms to support our digital plans. This large-scale
programme is focused on three areas:
• improving our ability to understand and respond
to customer needs via a customer relationship
management (CRM) project
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• improving how our members and the broader HR
profession can interact with one another through an
enhanced social community platform
• significantly improving our customers’
online experience of dealing with us through a
new website.
These platforms will enable us to work better with our
stakeholders as well as position us to take advantage of
new opportunities going forward.
Some of these projects have delivered visible change
already – our new communities platform and our
international websites, for example. Others are longer
term, such as our CRM and website projects, which
will be delivered in the 2016–17 financial year and will
be continually developed over future years to meet
our organisational needs. Our approach is very much
focused on continual improvement rather than delivering
a project and then moving on. The CIPD is committed to
becoming a truly digitally enabled organisation.
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Financial performance
Highlights
In a year of business development, commercial
challenges and significant investment in the
organisation, we nevertheless continue to benefit from
a strong financial position which will stand us in good
stead for our future initiatives.
Key financial highlights include:
• a 3% growth in membership-related income
• a small operating loss of £0.2 million²
• £1.4 million gain on our investment portfolio
• £2 million invested in strategic development
projects through designated funds
• a decrease in total reserves of £4 million, after
allowing for a negative adjustment of £3.3 million in
respect of our defined benefit pension scheme.

Income
Our income for the financial year was £40 million.
Financially we didn’t hit our performance targets for
top-line revenue growth, and while our membership
levels continued to rise, our commercial income
declined this year, resulting in an overall fall in revenue
of 3% year on year.

Total income £40 million
1%

2%

38%

Charitable activites
£24 million
Trading
£15 million
Grant funding
£0.7 million

60%
Figure 10: Total income

Investment income
£0.2 million

Encouragingly, our membership numbers remain
buoyant, and we ended the year with 142,137 members,
up from 139,853 last year, which resulted in an increase
in membership-related revenue of 3%. In particular, we
saw a growth in student members and members from
Ireland, Asia and the Middle East, reflecting the efforts
and investment we’ve been making in those regions.
In contrast, we suffered a decline in some sectors of our
commercial business this year; some of this is marketdriven: for example, in the training arena we saw growing
evidence of a market shift towards digital training,
which impacted our traditional business of face-to-face
training. And while we ourselves have seen positive signs
of growth around our new digital qualifications and
capabilities, at present the costs of investment outweigh
the revenue; however, we see this investment as vital
for our longer-term growth and positioning. Revenue
generated from advertising in our People Management
magazine also fell this year, mainly as a result of a dropoff in paid-for jobs advertising; while PMJobs maintained
its market share, it was severely affected by a decrease
in public sector recruitment. More positively, our wellestablished conference and exhibitions arm had another
successful year, with year-on-year revenue increasing by
just under 4%.
In Asia and the Middle East, we have seen many positive
signs of having an on-the-ground presence and have
engaged in many constructive conversations with the
HR community – from government to SMEs. Our Dubai
office opened its doors for business in the late autumn,
and is making good progress reaching out to members,
establishing contacts and building a strong presence in
the region. Nonetheless, we recognise that establishing
ourselves as a respected brand in international regions,
and converting leads into revenue, is not a short-term
commitment and will take much persistence and effort.
During the year, we have seen a significant growth in
the impact of the CIPD’s voice, with increasing requests
for our collaboration and views on HR-related issues,
both at government level and in the media. We are now
better positioned than ever to jump into public interest
debates. The way in which we rapidly responded to the
EU referendum ‘Leave’ vote was a good demonstration
of the significant changes to our ways of working and
culture that have happened over the year.

2 Excluding a pension adjustment of £0.5 million. The adjustment relates to a calculation of net interest charged to the
CIPD’s defined benefit pension scheme.
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We also received grant funding from other
organisations to support specific projects, including
developing people skills in SMEs, and working with
partners on the Valuing your Talent project, which
supports organisations to understand and measure the
contribution of people to business performance.

Expenditure
In response to our lower revenue expectations this year,
we have been mindful of costs, making efficiencies where
we have been able and capping project costs below
budgeted levels. As a result, our expenditure before
pension-related costs came in at 2% below last year.
We invested just under £2 million this year on
projects, focusing on two key areas that are critical
to our sustainable future – digital and Profession
for the Future – as well as on our ongoing research
programme. Our digital project, which we embarked
upon at the end of last year, has made good progress
in the enhancement of our digital capabilities, focusing
on our website, a new community site and CRM
system. We also continued to focus on our Profession
for the Future strategy, which is a two- to three-year
programme of work which will ensure that we are fit to
continue delivering on our purpose as the world
of work evolves.

Investments
Our investment strategy is to achieve long-term growth
without taking any undue risk.
The market value of the investment assets held at the
year-end was £23.7 million compared with £24.9 million
at 30 June 2015. This actually equates to a gain of
£1.4 million (+7.1%) after taking into account net
withdrawal from the portfolio of £2.6 million. The
portfolio performed particularly strongly in the second
quarter of 2016, benefitting to some extent from
foreign exchange diversification within the portfolio,
with US dollar and euro investments profiting from the
weakened pound following the Brexit referendum result.
On an annualised basis since inception of the current
strategy in 2006, the portfolio has returned +5.0%,
which is just slightly under the Blended Benchmark
return of +5.2%.

on investment against the risk and liquidity of the
investments.
We aim to exclude from our investment portfolio
companies whose employee practices may be in
conflict with our charitable aims, but accept that this is
not always possible, given that such information is not
always in the public domain.

Pensions
The CIPD offers all employees in the UK enrolment
in a group personal pension plan, which is a defined
contribution scheme. A similar scheme operates for
our employees in Ireland. We also run a defined benefit
pension scheme, which closed to new and existing
members in 2012. A professional actuary carried out a
triennial valuation of the defined benefit scheme at
30 September 2014. This showed a deficit of £5.7 million
and that the scheme’s assets were sufficient to cover
85% of the accrued benefits. The funding deficit does not
represent a current cash commitment; rather, it reflects
the long-term funding required as pensions are paid out
to members of the scheme, many of whom have not yet
retired. In accordance with the triennial valuation, we are
funding the deficit over a recovery period to 2021. More
details are given in note 12 to the accounts.
The actuary carries out a separate annual valuation in
line with Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 102. This
is conducted using different assumptions, and results
in a different funding deficit. The FRS 102 valuation at
30 June 2016 showed a deficit of £13.8 million and a
funding level of 74%, compared with a deficit of
£12.5 million and a funding level of 73% as at 30 June
2015. The main reason for the deterioration in the
balance sheet position is the reduction in the corporate
bond yield underlying the discount rate assumption,
although this has been offset to some extent by the
deficit reduction contribution of £2 million paid by
the CIPD during the year and the investment returns
earned on the scheme’s assets.

Reserves
The CIPD considers the key measure of sustainability
to be current and future liquidity cover for the
organisation, taking into account the potential effects
of an economic downturn.

Our portfolio is well diversified across asset classes and
this continues to provide a buffer against the market
volatility of recent years. We regularly review our mix
of investments in the light of our long-term financial
plans, and balance the objective of maximising return
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Consequently, Trustees deem that at all times the CIPD
should maintain free financial reserves sufficient to
fund a fall in income of between 15% and 20%, which,
based on the year to 30 June 2016, would equate
to between £5.9 million and £7.9 million. This would
enable expenditure to be reduced in a managed
fashion, should the need arise.
At 30 June 2016, our free financial reserves were
£7 million, which falls in the middle of what the
Trustees consider to be an appropriate level. In
addition, funds held for specific purposes, at
£10.9 million, include money required for investment
in our future strategy, as set out on page 20.
The Trustees review the reserves policy annually.
We also have a policy of keeping £1 million in cash and
readily available funds at any given time, which was
met during the year, ending with a group cash balance
of £3.9 million at the year-end.

Charities SORP (FRS 102)
These are the group’s first consolidated financial
statements prepared under Accounting and Reporting
by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice
(SORP) (FRS 102). For the financial year ended 30 June
2016, we have presented our accounts in accordance
with the new standard and restated our June 2015
accounts. The only restatement relates to the calculation
of the gain/loss on our defined benefit pension scheme.
FRS 102 replaces an ‘expected return on assets’ in
the calculation with a ‘net interest’ figure, which has
resulted in a £432,000 movement from gains/losses
on pension scheme to pension costs within total
expenditure.

Going concern
We have set out above a review of the CIPD’s financial
performance during the year and the reserves position.
Our planning process, including financial projections, has
taken into consideration the current economic climate – in
both the UK and in the international regions in which we
operate – as well as the market environment in which we
operate and its potential impact on our various sources of
income and planned expenditure. We have a reasonable
expectation that we have adequate resources to continue
in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
We believe that there are no material uncertainties that
call into doubt the CIPD’s ability to continue in operation.
Accordingly, the accounts have been prepared on the
basis that the CIPD is a going concern.
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Risks and uncertainties
Why managing risk is important to us
Good risk management is fundamental to the
continued work and sustainability of our organisation.
We identify and manage risks which could adversely
impact the achievement of our strategic purpose, and
determine the calculated risks we need to take in order
to succeed.

Legal and Governance is responsible for overseeing
the activities of the risk co-ordinators, for ensuring the
appropriate use of risk management by teams across
the organisation, and for the ongoing effectiveness of
our risk management strategy.
Our internal audit programme is based around risk and
uses the corporate risk register as a key resource.

How we manage risk

Risk assessment and response

Overall responsibility for risk management rests with
our Board. Twice a year, the Board works with the
Audit Committee to examine our corporate risk register
and review the effectiveness of our risk management
arrangements. This is maintained by the CIPD’s Legal
and Governance Department. The Board also has
oversight of risk management via regular ‘Business and
Operations’ reports.

In order to understand the potential effect of each
identified risk on the achievement of our strategic
objectives, we evaluate each risk based on the likelihood
of occurrence and its impact. This method ensures a
consistent approach is taken throughout the organisation.

The Board delegates day-to-day responsibility for
risk management to the Executive Team, who are
responsible for identifying and evaluating risks that
relate to their areas and activities, implementing
appropriate controls and for ongoing monitoring.
These are reviewed regularly in light of internal and
external developments, adjusting risk levels and risk
management response accordingly.
Risk management is embedded within the organisation
at an operational level. Our risk management
framework is supported by departmental risk coordinators, allowing risks to be managed by each
functional area and to be escalated to the corporate
risk register as necessary.
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Once risks have been assessed, an appropriate risk
management response is determined for each risk and
both the risk and its control are recorded in the risk
register. Where further actions have been identified
to manage risks to a level deemed acceptable, these
are agreed with specific timelines for delivery and
are monitored closely until fully implemented. The
corporate risk register is updated as new risks emerge
and existing risks diminish, ensuring that it reflects the
current threats to our strategic priorities.
Risk is managed under the following five categories:
strategic, operational, financial, people and regulatory.
The key types of risk to which we are exposed, along
with the principal processes in place to manage the
risks, are briefly described in Table 1.
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Table 1: Risk management

Risk

Risk management response

Strategic
Failure to achieve strategic
objectives

We have a clear governance structure with open communication lines at all levels. The
Board and Executive Team proactively review strategic plans on a regular basis and
respond quickly to both emerging risks and new opportunities.
We place great importance in the ongoing development of our research and public
profile activity to maintain our high reputation and to protect and promote the CIPD
brand.

Actions have a negative
effect on reputation,
leading to loss of
stakeholder trust and
confidence

We are also committed to the ongoing development of products and services to
ensure we remain relevant to students, members and the business community.
Robust management systems are in place for centres accredited to run CIPD programmes.

Loss of public confidence
in the high standards
expected of CIPD
members

We have rigorous professional standards and a Code of Professional Conduct which
forms part of a transparent complaints procedure.

Risks associated with
growing our presence in
international markets

We have a clear set of criteria for any business case for entering new markets. These
include alignment to our purpose, vision and strategy; return on investment; the
benefit/value-creation to all members; market sustainability; ease of doing business;
geo-political, economic and demographic indicators.

Operational
Failure to deliver a
business-critical project

We conduct regular reviews of ongoing and prospective business activities and
developments. Commercial activities are ring-fenced within our UK subsidiary
company, CIPD Enterprises Ltd, and in-house legal staff are fully involved in the
contractual process, including drafting, negotiation and review.

Risks associated with
system failure and cyberattacks

We have a comprehensive IT project planning framework and undertake various
safety measures to minimise cyber-risk. Our business continuity plan covers IT
disaster recovery arrangements.

Financial
Risk of new initiatives not
delivering, leading to poor
financial performance or
delayed financial return on
investments

We have a strong framework of financial management reporting and budget-setting
and contingencies are in place to mitigate financial risks.
Oversight is provided by the Board, which receives quarterly progress reports, and the
Treasurer, who conducts regular financial reviews.

People

Departure of key
personnel and failure to
attract or retain talent

We have a comprehensive people strategy covering:	
– organisational culture
– reward and recruitment
– people performance and perception measure key performance indicators (KPIs)
– organisational design and transformation
– talent and succession
– staff engagement, including a ‘Sounding Board’ and our popular intranet site.

Compliance and corporate governance
Impact of regulatory and
legislative changes

Legal and Governance is responsible for the ongoing review of key legislation and
compliance requirements as they impact the CIPD. Specific business policies and
procedures are in place to ensure roles and responsibilities are understood across the
organisation.
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Internal audit
BDO are our internal auditors. Based upon the key risks
identified in our risk register, they conduct a number of
risk-based audits each year, covering a variety of topics
in a number of key areas across the organisation. Any
concerns or recommendations identified are discussed
with the areas in question and followed up with
mitigating actions.
We had a clean internal audit during the year on the
appropriateness of our risk management arrangements
and their operational effectiveness.
Internal audit reports are shared with the relevant
director for the audit topic, as well as with the Head
of Finance and the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee also meets with our internal auditor twice a
year to discuss the internal audit results. Internal audit
reports are shared with our external auditors, Crowe
Clarke Whitehill.
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Organisation of the Institute
Charitable status
The CIPD is a registered charity under both the
Charities Act 2011 and the Charities and Trustees
Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, and its expenditure is
directed in furtherance of its charitable objects.

Board of Trustees
The Trustees are responsible for directing the CIPD’s
activities and for overseeing the management of
the affairs of the CIPD; they delegate day-to-day
management of the organisation to the chief executive
and the Executive Team. The Board acts on advice
and information from regular meetings with the chief
executive and the Executive Team.
The members of the Board are the directors of the
Institute and the Trustees of the charity. All are elected or
hold office as provided for by the Charter and Bye-laws.
The Charter and Bye-laws grant specific powers and
duties to the Council of the Institute, which comprises
a representative of each of the branches, the honorary
officers who are elected by the members in general
meeting, and the members of the Board.
The President, the Honorary Treasurer, the Chair of
the Board and the Vice President, Membership and
Professional Development serve on the Board by virtue
of their office. All these ex-officio members are elected
by the AGM, except the Chair, who is elected by Council.
Our chief executive is also a member of the Board. The
remaining Board members are elected by Council.
All Trustees serve in a non-executive capacity with the
exception of the chief executive. Bye-law 25.2 of the
Charter and Bye-laws states that the chief executive
shall be a member of Council and of the Board unless
the Board shall otherwise determine.

Trustees’ responsibilities

Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and
applicable law).
Under charity law the Trustees must not approve the
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the
charity and the group and of the group’s net incoming
or outgoing resources for that period. In preparing
these financial statements, the Trustees are required to:
• select suitable accounting policies and then apply
them consistently
• make judgements and accounting estimates that are
reasonable and prudent
• state whether applicable accounting standards have
been followed, subject to any material departures
disclosed and explained in the financial statements
• prepare the financial statements on a going concern
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
charity and the group will continue to operate.
The Trustees are responsible for keeping adequate
accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the charity’s and the group’s transactions and
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the
financial position of the charity and the group and
enable them to ensure that the financial statements
comply with the Charities Act 2011 and the provisions
of the Institute’s Charter. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the charity and the group and
hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The Trustees are responsible for the maintenance and
integrity of the corporate and financial information
included on the Institute’s website. Legislation in
the United Kingdom governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may differ from
legislation in other jurisdictions.

The Trustees are responsible for preparing the Trustees’
Report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations.
Charity law requires the Trustees to prepare financial
statements for each financial year in accordance with
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
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The Board and committees

Our approach to remuneration

Board: The Board meets regularly throughout the year
and is responsible for directing overall group strategy,
major capital projects, budgets, financial control and
risk management. It reviews operational performance
regularly to satisfy itself that the activities of the Institute
are in accordance with the agreed strategic direction and
ensures that the executive management has the capacity
and resources to meet the CIPD’s objectives.

Our policy in relation to all our staff is to be
competitive with remuneration practices in
comparative organisations, and proportionate to the
skills and experience of the individual, their role and
responsibilities in relation to our charitable objectives.
Each member of staff is assessed and rewarded
according to their performance against their own
individual objectives and ability to demonstrate
that they have achieved this by means of our core
competencies: purposeful, agile, collaborative and
expert (PACE).

The composition of the Board is set out on page 32.
Trustees are elected by Council, or, if Honorary Officers,
at the AGM. The CIPD’s chief executive also serves on
the Board.
Audit Committee: The committee has four members
and is chaired by the Honorary Treasurer. They are
appointed by, and must be, non-executive members
of the Board with recent and relevant experience. The
committee meets at least twice a year, reviews the
financial statements, evaluates risk management and
internal control, and oversees the relationship with,
and considers reports from, the external auditors.
This includes a detailed audit findings review which
highlights the most significant matters which have
come to the auditors’ attention. The committee also
receives a summary of internal audit findings and
reviews the Institute’s pension fund liabilities.
Nominations Committee: The committee is chaired
by the Chair of the Board and has two other members
appointed by the Board. The committee is responsible
for ensuring a good supply of, and the vetting of,
nominations to hold office and to serve on the Board
and committees.
Membership and Professional Development Committee:
The committee provides oversight on professional
capability standards and related activities, offering
advice and guidance on the definition, development
and maintenance of those standards.
Remuneration Committee: The principal roles of this
committee are to keep succession planning for the
chief executive and Executive Team under review and
determine the remuneration and contractual conditions
of the chief executive and Executive Team. The
committee met formally three times during the year.

Market reviews of roles are undertaken on an ongoing
basis to benchmark against roles in a sample of
organisations typical of those with which we compete
for the talented individuals necessary to carry out the
diverse range of roles required, and we are therefore
satisfied that our current pay ranges are broadly in line
with market-comparable organisations. We also ensure
that we provide all paid staff with a living wage.

Chief Executive and Executive Team
remuneration
The remuneration policy for our chief executive and
Executive Team follows the approach taken for all
other staff.
The remuneration policy for the chief executive is
detailed in note 4 and consisted of:
• Base salary – this was reviewed prior to
appointment in July 2012 in light of the
organisational performance and market pay levels.
• Annual variable pay opportunity – the chief
executive was appointed on a contract that placed a
significant proportion of total remuneration ‘at risk’,
on the basis of performance against objectives. The
contract specified a discretionary annual variable
remuneration opportunity of up to 30% of base
salary. The performance measures and targets were
set at the start of the year and include financial,
operational and strategic priorities.
• Pension – the chief executive did not participate in
the CIPD pension scheme during 2015–16.
• Benefits – the chief executive was eligible to receive
a car allowance and life assurance cover. The chief
executive was eligible but did not take up private
medical insurance benefits.

Subsidiaries and related parties
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The CIPD has three active subsidiaries: CIPD Enterprises
Ltd, its wholly-owned trading subsidiary, which is
registered in England and Wales; CIPD Asia Ltd, which
is a not-for-profit wholly-owned subsidiary, limited by
guarantee and registered in Singapore; and CIPD Middle
East FZ LLZ, which is wholly owned by CIPD Enterprises
Ltd and registered in Dubai. It was established in August
2015. More detail on our subsidiaries can be found in
note 2(b) of the financial statements.
The Charities SORP (FRS 102) requires disclosure of
transactions between related parties, details of which
are given in note 15 to the financial statements.

Public benefit
Charity Trustees have a duty to report in the Trustees’
annual report on their charity’s public benefit. We
have formulated our strategic plans to ensure that
we provide public benefit and achieve our charitable
objects: the promotion of the art and science of the
management and development of people for the public
benefit. We provide public benefit through:
– the positive difference that experienced HR
professionals can make to organisations and
individuals at work, including through volunteering
programmes focused on jobseekers’ access to the
labour market
– 	 our professional standards and qualifications, and
accreditation of chartered professionals
– our ability to influence public policy and agenda to
promote progressive HR and people management
and development practices
– 	 our freely available online information, and various
face-to-face and online networks and forums.

Auditors
Crowe Clark Whitehill LLP have indicated their
willingness to continue acting as auditors. A resolution
to re-appoint them will be proposed at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting in December.
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About the CIPD
The Chartered Institute of Personnel and Development
is incorporated by Royal Charter and therefore has no
company registration number. Its charity registration
numbers are 1079797 and SCO45154. Its principal office
is located at 151 The Broadway, London SW19 1JQ.

Trustees
Peter Cheese n
Chief Executive

Louise Fisher r n
Chair of the Board

Neil Morrison n r

Shakil Butt a

Barry Hoffman a

Helen Pitcher OBE r

(from 21 April 2016)

(to 21 April 2016)

(from 21 April 2016)

Professor Sir Cary Cooper CBE
President (from 15 December 2015)

Yetunde Hofmann a

Alan Price

Tanith Dodge

Ian Iceton a r
Honorary Treasurer

Gill Rider r
President (to 15 December 2015)

Anna Kyprianou
Vice President, Membership &
Professional Development

Anne Sharp a

member of the Nominations
Committee

member of the Remuneration
Committee

Frank Douglas r
(to 21 April 2016)

a

member of the Audit Committee

n

r

At our AGM on 15 December 2015, Professor Sir Cary
Cooper CBE was elected as President for a three-year
term of office and Gill Rider stood down as President.
At our Council meeting on 21 April 2016, Shakil Butt and
Helen Pitcher OBE were elected to the Board. Frank
Douglas and Barry Hoffman stood down from the Board.

Executive Team members
Peter Cheese
Chief Executive

Sue Upton
Director of Members & Markets

Laura Harrison
Director of People & Strategy

Gill White
Director of Knowledge & Capability

Vanessa Robinson
Director of Finance, Planning & Performance

Alan Ovens
Director of International

(from 1 January 2016)

(to 30 September 2016)

Professional advisers
Auditors
CROWE CLARK WHITEHILL LLP
St Bride’s House, 10 Salisbury Square, London EC4Y 8EH

Bankers
LLOYDS BANK PLC
3 St George’s Road, London SW19 4DR

Legal Advisers
WITHERS LLP
16 Old Bailey, London EC4M 7EG

Investment Advisers
CAMBRIDGE ASSOCIATES LTD
80 Victoria Street, Cardinal Place, London SW1E 5JL

By order of the Board

Marianne Wyles FCIS
Secretary, 8 November 2016
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Independent auditor’s report to the Trustees
We have audited the group and charity financial
statements of the Chartered Institute of Personnel and
Development for the year ended 30 June 2016 set out
on pages 35–59.
The financial reporting framework that has been
applied in their preparation is applicable law and United
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).
This report is made solely to the charity’s Trustees, as
a body, in accordance with section 154 of the Charities
Act 2011. Our audit work has been undertaken so that
we might state to the charity’s Trustees those matters
we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the charity and the charity’s Trustees
as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the
opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of trustees
and auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of Trustees’
Responsibilities, the Trustees are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for being
satisfied that they give a true and fair view.
We have been appointed as auditor under section 151
of the Charities Act 2011 and report in accordance with
regulations made under section 154 of that Act.

significant accounting estimates made by the Trustees;
and the overall presentation of the financial statements.
In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial
information in the Trustees’ Report to identify material
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and
to identify any information that is apparently materially
incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the
knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing
the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material
misstatements or inconsistencies, we consider the
implications for our report.

Opinion
In our opinion the financial statements:
• give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s
and the charity’s affairs as at 30 June 2016 and of
the group’s incoming resources and application of
resources for the year then ended;
• have been properly prepared in accordance with
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice; and
• have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Charities Act 2011, the Charities
and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005 and
regulations 6 and 8 of the Charities Accounts
(Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended).

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on
the financial statements in accordance with applicable
law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and
Ireland). Those standards require us to comply with
the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for
Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to
give reasonable assurance that the financial statements
are free from material misstatement, whether caused by
fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether
the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s
and charity’s circumstances and have been consistently
applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of
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Matters on which we are required to report
by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following
matters where the Charities Act 2011 and the Charities
Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended)
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:
• the information given in the Trustees’ Annual Report
is inconsistent in any material respect with the
financial statements; or
• returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or
• sufficient accounting records have not been kept by
the parent charity; or
• the financial statements are not in agreement with
the accounting records and returns; or
• we have not received all the information and
explanations we require for our audit.
Crowe Clark Whitehill LLP
Statutory Auditor, London
16 November 2016
Crowe Clark Whitehill LLP is eligible to act as an auditor
in terms of section 1212 of the Companies Act 2006.
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Consolidated statement of financial activities for the year ended
30 June 2016
		
		

Note

General
fund

Designated
fund

Restricted
fund

Total
2016

			
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
Income from:			
Charitable activities				
To advance the management and
development of people through:
Membership services and education			
23,312
–
–
23,312
Research			
69
–
596
665
Branches			
529
–
–
529
Other trading activities
Commercial income
2(b), (c)
15,295
–
–
15,295
Investments
2(d)
227
–
–
227
							
Total income			
39,432
–
596
40,028
			
Expenditure on:			
Raising funds
2(a)
Commercial expenditure			
(15,894)
–
–
(15,894)
Investment management costs 			
(48)
–
–
(48)
Charitable activities
2(a)		
Membership services and education			
(17,805)
(1,460)
–
(19,265)
Research 			
(4,008)
(435)
(621)
(5,064)
Branches			
(2,360)
(88)
–
(2,448)
Total expenditure			
			
Net gains/(losses) on investments
7		

(40,116)
1,362

Net income/(expenditure)			
67 8
			
Transfers between funds
11		
(1 0,560)
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined
benefit pension scheme
12		
(2,825)
Foreign exchange movement			
153
Net movement in funds			

(1,982)
–
(1,982)

(621)
–
(25)

10,560

–

–
–

–
–

Total
2015
£’000

22,879
249
453
17,361
283
41,225

(17,583)
(46)
(17,492)			
(6,050)			
(2,410)

(42,719)

(43,581)

1,362

1,393

(1,329)

(963)

–

–

(2,825)
153

(1,472)
(47)

(4,001)

(2,482)

(12,554)

8,578

(25)

Reconciliation of funds
		
Net fund balances brought forward 			

19,602

2,302

99

22,003

24,485

Net fund balances carried forward 			

7,048

10,880

74

18,002

22,003

The statement of financial activities includes all recognised gains and losses for the year.
The notes on pages 38–59 form part of these financial statements.
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Balance sheets at 30 June 2016

		
Note		
Group			Institute
		
2016
2015
2016
2015
			 £’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
Fixed assets			
Tangible assets
5
9,146
9,464
8,982
9,416
Intangible assets
6
2,369
2,563
2,369
2,555
Investments
7
23,702
24,875
24,202
24,875
			 35,217
36,902
35,553
36,846
Current assets			
Stocks		
126
79
–
1
Debtors
8
5,511
4,740
2,625
2,043
Cash at bank and in hand
9
3,869
6,826
2,877
4,703
			 9,506
11,645
5,502
6,747
Creditors			
Amounts falling due within one year
10
(12,850)
(13,959)
(8,516)
(9,159)
Net current assets/(liabilities)		
(3,344)
(2,314)
(3,014)
(2,412)
			
Net assets excluding pension liability		
31,873
34,588
32,539
34,434
			
Provisions
13
(60)
(60)
(60)
(60)
Defined benefit pension scheme liability
12
(13,811)
(12,525)
(13,811)
(12,525)
Net assets including pension liability		
18,002
22,003
18,668
			
Funds			
General fund
11
20,859
32,127
21,525
Pension liability		
(13,811)
(12,525)
(13,811)
Net general funds		
7,048
19,602
7,714
			
Designated funds
11
10,880
2,302
10,880
Net unrestricted funds		
17,928
21,904
18,594

21,849

31,973
(12,525)
19,448
2,302
21,750

Restricted funds
11
74
99
74
99
Total funds 		
18,002
22,003
18,668
21,849
			
The financial statements were approved by the trustees on 8 November 2016 and were signed on their behalf by:

Louise Fisher
Chair of the Board 		

Ian Iceton
Honorary Treasurer		

The notes on pages 38–59 form part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated cash flow statement for the year ended
30 June 2016
		
Note
2016		 2015
			 £’000
£’000
Net cash flows from operating activities		

(5,086)

(323)

Cash flows from investing activities
Income from investments
2(d)
213
244
Interest received
2(d)
14
39
Proceeds from the sale of tangible fixed assets
5
–
–
Purchase of tangible fixed assets
5
(221)
(968)
Development of tangible fixed assets
6
(412)
–
Proceeds from sale of investments
7
3,087
2,679
Purchase of investments
7
(552)
(2,837)
					
2,129
(843)
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities		
Change in cash and cash equivalents in the year		
(2,957)

(1,166)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year		

6,826

7,992

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

3,869

6,826

9

Notes to the cash flow statement
(a) Reconciliation of net income to net cash flow from operating activities		
(531)
Net expenditure		
(1,329)
Depreciation charge – tangible assets
5
538
853		
Depreciation charge – intangible assets
6
–
607
Foreign exchange reserves movement		
153
(47)
Payment to pension scheme per funding plan
12
(2,000)
(642)
Non-actuarial increase in pension liability
12
461
101
(Increase)/decrease in stocks		
(47)
159
(Increase)/decrease in debtors
8
(771)
39
(Decrease)/increase in creditors
10
(1,109)
1,421
						
(323)
Net cash flows from operating activities		
(5,086)

(b) Analysis of cash and cash equivalents		
2016
			 £’000

2015
£’000

9

3,869

6,826

Total cash and cash equivalents		

3,869

6,826

Cash in hand
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Notes to the financial statements for the year ended
30 June 2016
1
Principal accounting policies
		
(a)
Basis of accounting
		
		
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the Charities SORP (FRS 102) with a
transition date of 1 July 2014.
		

In preparing the accounts, the Trustees have considered whether the restatement of comparative items was
required. They determined that there was only one impact of the transition to FRS 102: in the calculation
of the pension adjustment, the expected return on assets has ceased to be used in the calculation of
recognised gains and losses, and this has been replaced by a net interest amount, calculated using the
discount rate applicable at the start of the period. Although this has not changed the total amount charged
to the consolidated statement of financial activites for the prior year, it has resulted in a reclassification of
£432,000 from the actuarial loss to costs included within the net income/expenditure of the group before
other recognised gains or losses.

		

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis as discussed in the Trustees’ Report
on page 25.

		
(b)
Consolidation
		
		The group financial statements include the results of the CIPD, its branches and its subsidiaries, which are
consolidated on a line-by-line basis. The net deficit, included in the consolidated statement of financial
activities, for the Institute only is £289,000, and the net movement in funds is £3,181,000. Please refer
to note 2(b) to the accounts for the results for the subsidiaries. Note 11 sets out the movements in the
Institute’s funds including incoming and outgoing resources.
		

During the year, CIPD Enterprises Ltd entered into a profit-share arrangement with Avado to offer digital
qualifications to the market. As guided by the Charity SORP (FRS 102), the arrangement has been reported
as a jointly controlled operation which requires the consolidated accounts of both parties to recognise
assets that each party controls and liabilities incurred, with expenses incurred and share of income. These
disclosures have been made in note 2(c).

		

The results of overseas subsidiaries and branches have been translated into sterling using exchange rates
prevailing at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising from retranslating the opening net investment
in overseas subsidiaries at the closing exchange rates are recorded as movements in the general fund.

(c)

Fixed assets, depreciation and amortisation

		Tangible assets
		Tangible assets are stated at cost net of depreciation and any provisions for impairment.
		

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on the cost of fixed assets to write them down to their
estimated residual values over their expected useful lives. No depreciation is provided on freehold land or
assets under construction. The depreciation period for other assets is shown below.

			Office equipment
			
Freehold buildings (from date of first use)
			
Leasehold buildings (from date of first use)

3–4 years
25 years
over life of lease

		Assets with a cost below £2,500 are not capitalised.
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1

Principal accounting policies (continued)

		Intangible assets
Intangible assets are stated at cost net of depreciation and any provisions for impairment.
Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on the cost of fixed assets to write them down to their
estimated residual values over their expected useful lives.
Website development costs		
Developed IT hardware/software

3 years
5 years

Website planning costs are charged to the statement of financial activities as incurred. Other website
costs are capitalised as a fixed asset only where they lead to the creation of an enduring asset delivering
tangible future benefits whose value is at least as great as the amount capitalised. An impairment review
is undertaken of the net asset value of the website at each balance sheet date. Expenditure to maintain or
operate the developed website is charged to the statement of financial activities.
Costs incurred in the development of new web-based commercial products are depreciated on a standard
cost of goods sold basis over the shorter of three years or the estimated useful economic life of the
products concerned.

(d)

Developed IT hardware/software relates to our membership and finance systems.
		
Income
		
All incoming resources, including investment income, are accrued and included in the statement of financial
activities when the group is legally entitled to (or has received) the income and the amount can be
quantified with reasonable accuracy. Income received relating to future accounting periods is deferred and
recognised as a creditor within the balance sheet. Income from subscriptions, which is our largest individual
source of income, is included on the accruals basis referring to the period over which the income relates.
Volunteers continue to be an integral part of the CIPD, working with us across the organisation in every
area of our work. Their wide spectrum of skills, experience and expertise strengthens our organisation
by enabling us to better support our members and engage the wider HR community in what we do. We
have around 1,000 volunteers directly supporting CIPD activity, including in our network of 52 branches,
code of conduct and assessment. On a wider community level, more than 3,900 CIPD members have been
supporting the external volunteering opportunities overseen by the CIPD’s Community Investment Team,
including 3,778 members who volunteer for our Steps Ahead Mentoring programme.

(e)

In accordance with the SORP, no monetary value has been attributed to the work of volunteers, though
their involvement is considered vital to the activities of the charity.
		
Stocks
		
Stocks mainly comprise books and publications and are valued at the lower of cost, using an average cost
basis, and net realisable value.
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Principal accounting policies (continued)
(f)

(g)

(h)

Pension schemes
		
The CIPD Group Personal Pension Plan and the CIPD Money Purchase Pension Plan are UK-based defined
contribution schemes. The Institute also makes contributions to defined contribution schemes for its staff in
Ireland. The charges to the statement of financial activities for defined contribution schemes are the amounts
payable in respect of the accounting year.
The CIPD Staff Retirement Scheme is a defined benefit scheme. It is accounted for in accordance with FRS
102. The notional net interest charge on the FRS 102 deficit, the expected return on assets and the current
service cost have been allocated across the resources expended categories based on pensionable payroll.
Scheme assets are measured at fair values. Scheme liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis using
the projected unit method and are discounted at appropriate high-quality corporate bond rates that have
terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related liability. Appropriate adjustments are made
for actuarial gains or losses which are recognised in other recognised gains and losses in the statement of
financial activities.
		
Operating leases
		
Payments in respect of operating leases are charged to the consolidated statement of financial activities
over the life of the lease on a straight-line basis.
		
Expenditure
		
Membership services and education include the costs of administering and providing direct services
to members, developing professional standards and providing educational services to members and
educational centres which offer the Institute’s qualifications. Commercial activities are disclosed as
charitable where they are deemed to give rise to direct membership benefit.
Research, innovation and dissemination of expertise includes the cost of commissioning and undertaking
research and the dissemination of research and practical information to members and the public.
Branches include the central and local costs of the Institute’s branch network, which offers CPD and
networking events for members nationwide.
Commercial activities comprise a courses and conferences programme, a publishing facility for books and
training materials and an HR consultancy business for organisations. It also manages the relationship with
the publisher of the CIPD’s journal, People Management.
Investment management costs include fees paid to the Institute’s investment advisers and fund managers.

(i)

Support costs such as general management, governance, human resources, finance, information systems,
strategy, performance and premises costs are allocated across the various categories of our expenditure.
The basis of allocation has been explained in note 2(a) to the accounts.
		
Taxation
The CIPD is a registered charity and its income is applied solely for charitable purposes. As a result, it is
entitled to rely upon the taxation exemption granted by the Corporation Tax Act 2010. Where possible, the
profits of the CIPD’s trading subsidiaries are assigned to the CIPD under a deed of covenant.
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Principal accounting policies (continued)
(j)

Investments
		
Investments are stated in the balance sheet at market value. Realised and unrealised gains and losses in
the year based on market value are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial activities. The
investment properties are shown at Trustees’ estimate of their open market valuation. Bank interest is
accounted for on a receivable basis; other investment income is accounted for when received.
Investments in subsidiary undertakings are included at cost or fair value at acquisition, subject to any
impairment.

(k)

Liquid resources are funds held at bank which require more than 24 hours’ notice to access.
		
Fund accounting
		
The Institute has various types of funds for which it is responsible and which require separate disclosure.
These are as follows:
		
General fund
		
This contains funds that are spent at the discretion of the Trustees in furtherance of the objects of the
charity, and includes reserves in line with our policy to maintain sufficient realisable reserves to cover the
estimated cash impact of a pessimistic financial scenario.
		
Designated funds
		
The Institute may at its discretion set aside funds for specific purposes that would otherwise form part of
the general reserves of the organisation. The Institute sets aside funds, supported by cash and investments,
in respect of a variety of activities that are explained in more detail below. As such, they are not available
for other purposes.
		
• The building fund provides for maintenance of CIPD properties and for potential property projects.
• The information technology fund is for the development of systems to improve members’ services and
management information.
• The new learning fund is for the cost of developing learning materials to meet the Institute’s
professional standards and to make use of new learning technology.
• The research and development fund is for the cost of research activities, on which expenditure varies
from year to year, according to the Institute’s strategic objectives.
• The strategic initiatives fund is to provide for special initiatives identified by the Board – which include
growing membership, meeting the needs of leading members of the HR profession, growing the CIPD’s
offering internationally, and engaging more directly with employers.
The outstanding balance on the building fund is expected to be used over the next ten to twenty years,
though this is dependent on the nature and timing of any potential property projects. The outstanding
balances on each of the other funds are expected to be used over the next three to five years.
Restricted funds
The Institute may, from time to time, receive funds from external sources for specific purposes. These funds
are not available for other purposes and are segregated in our accounts. Restricted funds are listed out in
note 11 to the accounts.
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Principal accounting policies (continued)
(l)

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at transaction price
(including transaction costs). The group only has financial assets and financial liabilities of a kind that qualify
as basic financial instruments. With the exception of fixed asset investments, basic financial instruments are
initially recognised at transaction value and subsequently measured at their settlement value.
Trade and other debtors are recognised at the settlement amount due after any discount offered and net
of the bad debt provision. Prepayments are valued at the amount prepaid, net of any trade discounts due.
Creditors and provisions are recognised where the group has a present obligation resulting from a past
event that will probably result in the transfer of funds to a third party, and the amount due to settle the
obligation can be measured or estimated reliably. Creditors and provisions are normally recognised at their
settlement amount after allowing for any trade discounts due.

(m)

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the group’s accounting policies described above, the Trustees are required to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. These estimates, judgements and assumptions are made based on
a combination of past experience, professional expert advice and other evidence that is relevant to the
particular circumstance. The following area is considered to involve the critical judgements and sources of
estimation uncertainty when applying the group’s accounting policies.
		
Pension liability
Estimates of the net pension liability depend on a number of complex judgements relating to the discount
rate used, changes in retirement ages and mortality rates. The group engages a firm of actuaries to provide
expert advice about the assumptions made and the effect on the pension liability of changes in these
assumptions.
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2(a) Total resources expended
		
		 				
Direct
Support
						
costs
costs
					
£’000
£’000
Raising funds			
		 Commercial activities			
12,879
3,015
		 Investment management			
48
–
Charitable activities			
		 Membership and education			
14,615
4,651
		Research			
3,912
1,151
		Branches			
1,878
570
						
				
33,332
9,387

Total
2016
£’000

Total
2015
£’000

15,894
48

17,583
46

19,265
5,064
2,448

17,492
6,050
2,410

42,719

43,581

Total
2016
£’000

Total
2015
£’000

3,015

2,569

4,651
1,151
570

3,985
1,332
537

9,387

8,423

Allocation of support costs
			
General						
			
management IT
Finance
HR
Premises Governance
			
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
Raising funds			
		 Commercial activities
171
1,209
338
427
830
40
Charitable activities			
		 Membership and education
1,145
1,659
464
399
947
37
		Research
248
360
101
128
302
12
		Branches
156
226
63
36
86
3
						
			
1,720
3,454
966
990
2,165
92
Total 2015

1,529

3,287

901

833

1,776

97

8,423

								
We have restated 2015’s allocation of support costs as follows:
a) To include governance costs of £97,000. In last year’s financial statements, governance costs were treated as a direct
cost.
b) To remove pension costs of £101,000, which have now been restated in accordance with new accounting treatment
under FRS 102. See note 1(a) for details.
Basis of apportionment:
General management,
IT and finance

Apportioned across commercial activities based on estimate of actual use. Apportioned
across charitable activities based on levels of total unrestricted charitable expenditure.

HR, premises and
governance

Apportioned across all direct costs, both commercial and charitable, on the basis of 			
total headcount.
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Total resources expended include:			
			
			
2016
2015
			
£’000
£’000
Auditor’s renumeration:			
		
		 Audit fees – current year provision
50
41
10
		 Audit fees – under provision relating to prior year
–
		 Other services
4
4
Operating lease rentals:
		 Plant and machinery
		 Other assets including land and buildings
Depreciation

99
287

92
232

1,145

853

2(b) Subsidiary companies
(i) At the balance sheet date, the CIPD owned the entire ordinary share capital (where applicable) of the following
		
subsidiary undertakings:
CIPD Enterprises Ltd

CIPD Asia Ltd

CIPD Middle East FZ LLC1

Country of registration

England and Wales

Singapore

Dubai

Immediate holding co.

CIPD

CIPD

CIPD Enterprises

Holding

500,002 £1 shares

Limited by guarantee

2,810 AED 1,000 shares

Activity

Training, events, publishing and
the development of people
via organisational training and
consultancy

Promotion of membership
and the management and
development of people

Promotion of membership
and the management and
development of people

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Total assets

4,416

5,043

306

205

449

–

Total liabilities

3,916

5,043

106

57

878

–

500

–

200

148

(429)

–

500

–

–

–

572

–

–

–

200

148

(1,001)

–

Income2

14,949

17,156

1,319 3

682

Expenditure

14,865

16,861

1,267

601

1,014

–

84

295

52

81

(1,001)

–

(84)

(295)

Represented by:
Share capital
Reserves
Results for the year:

Net profit
Gift aided to CIPD
Retained in subsidiary

–

–

–

–

52

81

13

–
(1,001)

–

–
–

1

CIPD Middle East FZ LLC was incorporated on 13 August 2015 as a Free Zone Limited Liability company and operates in the UAE under a licence issued
by the Government of Dubai, Dubai Creative Cluster Authority. The entity is licensed to provide services mainly related to HR consultancy.

2

Commercial income and expenditure in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities is derived from our UK trading arm, CIPD Enterprises Ltd
with the following adjustments: commercial income also includes inward sponsorship of CIPD events, which is recorded in the accounts of the Institute.
Commercial expenditure includes a higher apportionment of support costs than included in CIPD Enterprises’ standalone accounts.

3

CIPD Asia Ltd’s income includes £1,167,000 (2015: £682,000) funding from the CIPD, which was written off at the year-end in the form of a grant.
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(ii) 	During the year, there were a number transactions between group companies, relating to either (a) expenditure
paid by the CIPD or CIPD Enterprises Ltd on behalf of another group company and recharged to them, or (b)
internal operational costs incurred by the CIPD or CIPD Enterprises and apportioned to other group companies as
appropriate. These transactions were as follows:
			
Transactions
Balance
			
during the year
outstanding at
				
year end
			
£’000
£’000
Amounts due to the CIPD:			
from CIPD Middle East FZ LLC
670
670
		
Amounts due to CIPD Enterprises Ltd:
from the CIPD
378
196
from CIPD Middle East FZ LLC
56
56

		

2(c) Joint operation
In this financial year, we embarked upon a joint arrangement with Avado Learning, a digital training specialist, to offer digital
CIPD L&D qualifications to the market. Net sales for the year totalled £982,000, representing 383 enrolments which, after a
provision for bad debts, equated to revenue of £834,000.
The arrangement with Avado is organised as a joint operation whereby Avado takes the lead role in terms of sales, marketing
and delivery of the training and the CIPD provides the course content. Avado, as the training provider, deals directly with
the students and accordingly accounts for the total sales, debtors and creditors relating to its own overheads. Under the
arrangements of the joint operation, net profits are shared equally between Avado and CIPD Enterprises. For the current
financial year a net operational loss of £124,000 was incurred after costs of £958,000 (including £104,000 costs incurred
directly by CIPD Enterprises). CIPD Enterprises has recorded a £62,000 loss in its own accounts, representing its 50% share,
and this has been reported in the consolidated statement of financial activities as follows:
		
Commercial income
Commercial expenditure
Net income

£’000
42
(104)
(62)

Design and development costs of £46,000 (2015: £142,000) have been incurred by both parties in aggregate during the
year. Under the agreement, the CIPD has borne the total costs as they become payable, and has been reimbursed 50% of the
costs by Avado out of their portion of the profit-share. Of the total costs incurred in 2015 and 2016 of £188,000, Avado have
reimbursed the CIPD for £68,000 of their £94,000 share, leaving an outstanding balance of £26,000 at the year end. The
CIPD’s share of the design and development costs have been recorded in the consolidated statement of financial activities
under Designated Funds: Membership Services and Education.

2(d) Investment income			
			
			

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Bank interest
14
39
Income from investment property
36
15
Income from other investments
177
229
			
227
283
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3
Staffing (excluding trustees)
			
			

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Salaries
14,377
14,662
Social security costs
1,487
1,541
Pension costs
1,123
1,314
Benefits in kind
206
132
			
17,193
17,649
						
The pension costs shown above include the service cost for the year for the CIPD Staff Retirement Scheme and the actual 		
payments made into defined contribution schemes.
Excluding the chief executive (see note 4 below), higher-paid employees were remunerated as follows:
			
			
£60,000–£69,999
£70,000–£79,999
£80,000–£89,999
£90,000–£99,999
£100,000–£109,999
£110,000–£119,999
£120,000–£129,999
£140,000–£149,999
£150,000–£159,999
£160,000–£169,999
£170,000–£179,999
£180,000–£189,999
£200,000–£209,999
£210,000–£219,999
£230,000–£239,999
£280,000–£289,999

2016
Number
18*
11*
11*
6
3*
2
1
1
1
–
1
1
1
–
–
1*

2015
Number
12
13*
5
2
2*
1
2*
–
1
1
1
2*
–
1
3*
1*

The bandings marked with an asterisk include redundancy payments for certain individuals and hence do not constitute the normal or
ongoing compensation.

		
The above bandings include members of the Executive Team (excluding the chief executive, whose remuneration is set
out in note 4 below). Their names and roles are listed on page 32 in the Trustees’ Report. The total employee benefits of
the Executive Team (excluding the chief executive) was £1,246,000 (2015: 1,962,000). In 2015, for part of the year, the
Executive Team included the additional roles of deputy chief executive, market development director, chief financial and
information officer and HR and OD director.
Of the higher-paid employees, 18 (2015: 18) were members of the CIPD Staff Retirement Scheme. The Institute
contributed £364,000 into defined contribution schemes for 47 of the higher-paid employees (2015: £432,000 for 44
employees).
The average monthly number of employees during the year was 368 (2015: 366), representing a full-time equivalent of
342 (2015: 342).
The average number of employees working in charitable activities, including support and management and
administration, was 246 (2015: 252), and 122 (2015: 114) employees worked in activities for generating funds.
The cost of general agency support and consultants was £1,772,000 (2015: £1,386,000), mainly in relation to delivery of
strategic projects and IT activities.
Redundancy and termination payments relating to the period totalled £616,000 (2015: £1,517,000).
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4
Trustees’ emoluments
			
2016
2015
			
£’000
£’000
Chief executive (only paid trustee)					
Salary
258
258
Variable performance bonus
20
40
Pension contributions
nil
nil
Benefits in kind
4
4
Emoluments
282
302
							
Details on how the chief executive’s remuneration is determined are given in the Trustees’ Report on page 30.
The figures above represent the emoluments of the chief executive for that role, not as a trustee.
The other members of the Board of Trustees receive no remuneration for their services or for volunteering their time.
During the year, a total of £10,720 (2015: £13,573) out-of-pocket expenses were reimbursed to 15 (2015: 9) Trustees or
paid directly on their behalf.
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5
Tangible fixed assets
							
		
		
Freehold
Freehold
Leasehold
Office					
Group		
land
property
properties equipment
Total
		
		
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
Cost		
At 1 July 2015		
3,884
9,163
251
1,645
14,943
Additions		
–
–
76
145
221
Transfers				–
–		
At 30 June 2016		
3,884
9,163
327
1,790
15,164
			
Depreciation
At 1 July 2014		
–
3,735
183
1,562
5,480
Charges for the year		
–
374
66
98
538
Disposals		–
–
–
–
–
At 30 June 2016		 –
4,109
249
1,660
6,018
Net book value
At 1 July 2015		
3,884
At 30 June 2016		
3,884

5,428
5,054

68
78

83
130

9,463
9,146

							
		
Freehold
Freehold
Leasehold
Office					
Institute		
land
property
properties
equipment
Total
		
		
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
Cost		
At 1 July 2015		
3,884
Additions		 –
Transfers		–
At 30 June 2016		
3,884
			
Depreciation		
At 1 July 2015		
–
Charges for the year		
–
At 30 June 2016		 –
Net book value		
At 1 July 2015		
3,884
At 30 June 2016		
3,884

9,163
–
–
9,163

227
–
–
227

1,615
49
–
1,664

14,889
49
–
14,938

3,735
374
4,109

182
45
227

1,557
63
1,620

5,474
482
5,956

5,428
5,428

45
–

59
45

9,416
8,892

The freehold land and property relates to the CIPD offices at 151 The Broadway, Wimbledon.
The Trustees believe that the value of this property is higher than its net book value. The leasehold properties
are in respect of our central London office in Victoria as well as our offices in Singapore and Dubai.
There is a charge granted over the freehold property at 151 The Broadway in favour of the CIPD Staff Retirement
Scheme.
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6
Intangible fixed assets
							
		
			
Assets under
IT
Website					
Group			
construction
software development
Total
		
			
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
Cost
At 1 July 2015			
201
2,787
5,010
7,998
Additions			 –
–
412
412
Transfers			
(184)
184
–
–		
At 30 June 2016			 17
2,971
5,422
8,410
			
Depreciation
At 1 July 2015			
–
433
5,001
5,434
Charges for the year			
–
594
13
607
At 30 June 2016			 –
1,027
5,014
6,041
Net book value
At 1 July 2015			
201
At 30 June 2016			
17

2,353
1,944

9
408

2,563
2,369

							
			
Assets under
IT
Website					
Institute			
construction
software development
Total
		
			
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
Cost
At 1 July 2015			
201
Additions			 –
Transfers			
(184)
At 30 June 2016			 17
			
Depreciation
At 1 July 2015			
–
Charges for the year			
–
At 30 June 2016			 –
Net book value
At 1 July 2015			
201
At 30 June 2016			
17

2,787
–
184
2,971

4,519
412
–
4,931

7,507
412
–
7,919

433
594
1,027

4,518
5
4,523

4,951
599
5,550

2,353
1,944

–
408

2,554
2,369

Intangible assets relate to IT software in respect of our membership and finance systems and costs of developing our
website.
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7
Investments
			
		

Group
2016

Group
2015

Institute
2016

Institute
2015

			
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
Investment at market value					
Managed funds:
		 Unit trusts and direct holdings in listed UK
		 equities and bonds
3,879
3,712
3,879
3,712			
		 Overseas unit trusts and direct holdings in
		 listed UK equities and bonds
161
144
161
144
		 Overseas unit trusts and direct holdings in
		 listed overseas equities and bonds
17,419
18,803
17,419
18,803
Property unit trust
1,008
981
1,008
981
			
22,467
23,640
22,467
23,640
UK investment properties
1,235
1,235
1,235
Investments in subsidiaries (note 2b)
–
–
500
Total market value at 30 June
23,702
24,875
24,202
						
Total cost at 30 June
18,183
19,667
18,683
						

1,235
–
24,875
19,667

The Board has delegated the management of investments to a working group which meets quarterly with an
investment adviser to review performance and makes recommendations to the Board as to investment managers,
asset allocation and the outcome of performance reviews.
The CIPD follows a strategy which specifies percentage allocations to different asset classes and uses specialist
fund managers for each class of asset. The asset allocation is tracked by the investment adviser on behalf of
the CIPD, with rebalancing decisions taken quarterly. A reconciliation of the movement in the market value of
investments is shown below.

			
Group and Institute
Managed funds:
Market value brought forward
Money withdrawn
Money invested
Reinvested income (net of fees)
Realised gains/(losses)
Revaluation gains
Market value at 30 June – Group
Investment in subsidiary
Market value at 30 June – Institute
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2016
£’000

2015
£’000

24,875
(3,087)
420
132
1,051
311
23,702
500
24,202

23,324
(2,679)
2,643
194
672
721
24,875
–
24,875
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7

Investments (continued)
The market values of material investments within the portfolio were:

			
			
WMP (Dublin) Enduring Assets Portfolio
Acadian Global Equity Fund
Heronbridge UK Equity Fund
Nyes Ledge Capital Horizon Fund
Kiltearn Global Equity (Ireland) Fund
Colchester Global Bond Fund
Schroder Private Equity Fund of Funds IV
Wellington Durable Fund
Axa Framlington UK Select Opportunities Fund
Investment Property
Capital ETOP
FF&P Global Property Fund
Charity Property Fund
Forester Diversified Ltd

8
Debtors
			
		
			

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

3,024
2,636
2,454
2,333
2,018
1,982
1,752
1,742
1,426
1,235
1,071
1,020
1,009
–

2,377
2,367
2,510
2,567
1,857
1,841
1,852
1,273
1,202
1,235
1,032
1,231
980	
2,551

Group

Trade debtors
Amounts due from subsidiaries
Other debtors
Prepayments and accrued income
			

Institute

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

2,881
–
677
1,953
5,511

2,808
–
516
1,416
4,740

375
474
577
1,199
2,625

470
295
467			
811
2,043

Included within the Institute’s debtors are amounts owed from CIPD Enterprises Ltd of £84,000 (2015: £295,000) 			
relating to Gift Aid payable for the period.

9
Cash at bank and in hand
			
		
			

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

Bank current accounts and cash in hand
			

3,869
3,869

6,826
6,826

2,877
2,877

4,703
4,703

Group

Institute

The Group’s and the Institute’s total cash at bank and in hand includes £5,000 (2015: £938,000) held on behalf of the
branches. The 2016 balance is significantly lower because a portion of funds was transferred to the Institute’s main 		
bank account during the year.
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Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

			
		
			

Group
2016
£’000

Group
2015
£’000

Institute
2016
£’000

Institute
2015
£’000

Trade creditors
2,119
2,571
1,018
798		
Amounts received in advance
5,241
5,685
5,241
5,685
Amounts due to subsidiaries
–
–
–
112
Taxation and social security costs
479
468
427
468
Other creditors
421
474
188
191
Accruals
2,323
2,477
1,642
1,905
Deferred income
2,267
2,284
–
–
							
			
12,850
13,959
8,516
9,159

Amounts received in advance at 30 June 2015 will all be released in the year to 30 June 2016 and mainly relate
to member and organisation subscriptions.
Prior year accruals are £60,000 lower than reported in the prior year accounts because provisions of £60,000
have been reported separately this year on the face of the balance sheet (see note 13).
Deferred income represents bookings for future commercial events and payments for consultancy work. The
movement on deferred income was as follows:

			
		
			

Group
2016
£’000

Group		
2015
£’000

Deferred income at start of year
2,284
2,572				
Amounts released during year
(2,289)
(2,546)
Amounts deferred during year
2,272
2,578
							
Deferred income at end of year
2,267
2,284
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Funds
		
Group
			
			

Balance at			
1 July
Incoming
Resources
2015
resources
expended
£’000
£’000
£’000

General fund
Pension reserve
Net general funds

32,127
(12,525)
19,602

39,432
–
39,432

(39,655)
(461)
(40,116)

Transfers
between
funds
£’000

Gains
and
losses
£’000

(12,560)
2,000
(10,560)

1,515
(2,825)
(1,310)

Designated funds				
–
–
(360)
		 Building
610
–
1,577
		 Information technology
295
(872)
–
–
(143)
		 New learning
143
–
(295)
76
		 Research and development
469
–
		 Strategic initiatives
785
(815)
9,410
–
(1,982)
10,560
Total designated funds
2,302
–
Total unrestricted funds
21,904
39,432
(42,098)
Restricted funds				
40
150
(190)
–
		 Valuing your Talent
–
392
–
		 People Skills
(392)
59
25
–
		 Steps Ahead
(28)
		 Team London
–
15
–
(11)
		
Timewise Mentor
–
14
–
–
99
596
(621)
–
Total restricted funds
Total funds

22,003

		
		
Institute
			
			

40,028

(42,719)

Balance at			
1 July
Incoming
Resources
2015
resources
expended
£’000
£’000
£’000

General fund
Pension reserve
Net general funds

31,973
(12,525)
19,448

24,396
–
24,396

(23,646)
(461)
(24,107)

–
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24,993

(26,711)

–
–
–
–
–
–

250
1,000
–
250
9,380
10,880
17,928
–
–
56
4
14
74
18,002

Transfers
between
funds
£’000

Gains
and
losses
£’000

Balance at
30 June
2016
£’000

(12,560)
2,000
(10,560)

1,362
(2,825)
(1,463)

21,525
(13,811)
7,714

–
Total unrestricted funds
21,750
24,396
(26,089)
Restricted funds				
40
150
(190)
–
		 Valuing your Talent
–
392
–
		 People Skills
(392)
59
26
–
		 Steps Ahead
(29)
		 Team London
–
15
–
(11)
		
Timewise Mentor
–
14
–
–
99
597
(622)
–
Total restricted funds
21,849

(1,310)

20,859
(13,811)
7,048

(1,310)

Designated funds				
–
–
(360)
		Building
610
–
1,577
		 Information technology
295
(872)
–
–
(143)
		 New learning
143
–
(295)
76
		 Research and development
469
–
		 Strategic initiatives
785
(815)
9,410
–
(1,982)
10,560
Total designated funds
2,302

Total funds

–
–
–
–
–
–

Balance at		
30 June
2016
£’000

–
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–
–
–
–
–
–
(1,463)
–
–
–
–
–
–
(1,463)

250
1,000
–
250
9,380
10,880
18,594
–
–
56
4
14
74
18,668
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Funds (continued)
At 30 June 2016 cumulative unrealised gains on investment assets of £5,519,000 (2015: £5,208,000) were included in the
general fund.
Each of the designated funds is described in note 1 (k).
During the year, £10,560,000 was transferred from the general fund to the designated funds in order to ensure that
adequate funding was in place for the information technology fund, the strategic initiatives fund and the research and
development fund. £2,000,000 was transferred from the general fund to the pension reserve.
Expenditure incurred promoting the interests of CIPD members and the wider HR community working in Asia was
funded during the year via grants totalling £1.2 million (2015: £0.7 million) from the CIPD to CIPD Asia Ltd. The funding
in this and the prior year reflects the amount incurred to date in promoting CIPD activities in the region and is in
accordance with expenditure authorised by the Trustees under the existing grant approval policy.

Analysis of group fund balances
			
			
Tangible fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets
Investments
Current assets
Current liabilites
Long-term liabilities
Provisions
Fund balances at 30 June 2016

12

General
£’000

Pension
£’000

Designated
£’000

9,146
2,369
23,702
(1,969)
(12,329)
–
(60)
20,859

–
–
–
–
–
(13,811)
–
(13,811)

–
–
–
11,084
(204)
–
–
10,880

Restricted
£’000
–
–
–
391
(317)
–
–
74

Total
£’000
9,146
2,369
23,702
9,506
(12,850)
(13,811)
(60)
18,002

Pension commitments
The Institute operated two separate occupational pension schemes during the year – the CIPD Group Personal
Pension Plan and the CIPD Staff Retirement Scheme.

(a)

CIPD Staff Retirement Scheme
The CIPD Staff Retirement Scheme is a defined benefit scheme which was closed to new entrants on 1 January
2010 and closed to accruals of new benefits from 30 September 2012.
The assets of the scheme are held separately from those of the Institute to meet long-term pension liabilities to
past and present employees. The Trustees of the scheme are required to act in the best interest of the scheme’s
beneficiaries and are appointed in accordance with the scheme’s trust deed. Currently one-third of the Trustees
are member-nominated. During the year, Barnett Waddingham LLP acted as administrators and actuaries to the
scheme. SEI Investments (Europe) Limited acted as investment advisers to the Trustees during the year; they are
also responsible for the management of the scheme’s invested assets.
The most recent full actuarial valuation of the scheme was carried out as at 1 October 2014, and revealed an
actuarial deficit of approximately £5.7 million. In accordance with the schedule of contributions agreed as part of
that valuation, the CIPD contributed £2,000,000 (2015: £608,000) to the scheme in September 2015 to address
the past service deficit. Further contributions of £646,000 are due by September in each of the years 2016 to
2021 inclusive.
In 2012, the CIPD granted the scheme a charge over the freehold property at 151 The Broadway to act as a
contingent asset for the scheme.
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Benefits accrued after 1 October 2006 were on a career average revalued earnings basis and will have limited price
indexation of pensions in payment restricted to 2.5%. Prior to 1 October 2006 benefits were accrued on a final salary
basis and active members paid contributions to the scheme. On this date the Institute implemented a salary sacrifice
scheme and since then has paid all of the contributions – originally at a rate of 19.1% of pensionable salaries and from
1 October 2009 until 30 September 2012 at a rate of 17.6%. Of this, 6% represented the contributions that active
members would have made were the salary sacrifice scheme not in place. Contributions in respect of benefit accrual
ceased from 30 September 2012.
2016
£’000

2015
£’000

52,141
(38,330)
13,811

46,472
(33,947)
12,525

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet were:
Present value of funded liabilities
Fair value of scheme assets
Net pension liability at 30 June
The amounts disclosed in the balance sheet were:
Liabilities
Assets
Net pension liability at 30 June

13,811
–
13,811

12,525
–
12,525

The amounts recognised in the statement of financial activities were:
–
1,841
(1,380)
–
461

Administration cost
Interest on liabilities
Interest on assets
Settlements and curtailments
Total

54
1,859
(1,380)
–
533

Changes in the amounts recognised within other recognised gains and losses were:
2,825

Actuarial loss

1,472

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit liability were:
Opening defined benefit liability
Interest cost
Actuarial loss
Actuarial gain due to experience
Benefits paid
Closing defined benefit liability at 30 June

46,472
1,841
5,487
(777)
(882)
52,141

42,559
1,859
3,022
(330)
(638)
46,472

33,947
1,380
1,885
2,000
(882)
–
38,330

31,397
1,380
1,220
642
(638)
(54)
33,947

Changes in the fair value of the scheme assets were:
Opening fair value of scheme assets
Interest on assets
Actuarial gains/(losses)
Employer contributions
Benefits paid
Administration costs
Closing fair value of scheme assets at 30 June
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Pension commitments (continued)
All of the scheme’s assets are invested in funds managed by SEI Investments (Europe) Limited. These are grouped into two
pools – the Risk Management Pool and the Return Enhancement Pool. Each fund has a mandate to invest actively in such a
way as is expected to outperform relevant benchmark indices.
The fair value of the scheme assets as a percentage of the total scheme assets was:

				30 June 2016
			
Equities
60%
Bonds
28%
4%
Hedge funds
Annuities
3%
Property
5%
Cash
–

30 June 2015
60%
27%
5%
3%
5%
–

The returns on the scheme’s assets over the years to 30 June 2015 and 30 June 2016 were £2,600,000 and £3,265,000
respectively.

The principal actuarial assumptions used by the actuary were:
at 30 June 2016
Rate of increase for pensions in payment
Discount rate for scheme liabilities
Expected return on scheme assets
Rate of inflation (RPI)
Mortality table
			
Long-term rate of mortality improvement
Life expectancy at age 65 (of male aged 65)
Life expectancy at age 65 (of male aged 45)
Allowance for cash commutation
			

Historical scheme information:
			
Defined benefit liability
Fair value of the scheme assets
Deficit in the scheme
Experience adjustments on scheme liabilities
Experience adjustments on scheme assets

at 30 June 2015

3.20%
3.30%
n/a
3.30%
50%S1_Light &
50%S1=CMI_2013

3.40%
4.00%
n/a
3.60%
50%S1_Light &
50%S1=CMI_2013

1.25%
23.0
24.6
10% of pension taken as
tax-free cash

1.25%
23.2
24.9
10% of pension taken as
tax-free cash

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

2014
£’000

2013
£’000

2012
£’000

(52,141)
38,330
(13,811)
777
1,885

(46,472)
33,947
(12,525)
330
1,220

(42,559)
31,397
(11,162)
88
511

(37,445)
29,083
(8,362)
(520)
1,137

(34,008)
24,927
(9,081)
(578)
(2,248)

The sensitivities regarding the principal assumptions used to measure the scheme liabilities were:
Assumption
Discount rate
Rate of inflation
Life expectancy

Change in assumption		 Impact on scheme liabilities
Increase/decrease by 0.5%		 Decrease/increase by 12%
Increase/decrease by 0.5%		 Increase/decrease by 7%
Increase by one year		 Increase by 3%
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Pension commitments (continued)

(b)

The CIPD Group Personal Pension Plan is a defined contribution scheme which is open to all CIPD employees in the UK. The
Institute more than matches the amount of employee salary sacrifice into the scheme up to a total combined contribution of
20% of salary. The scheme qualifies for the NAPF pension quality mark, with the 20% total contribution option qualifying for
the PQM Plus standard – the highest available industry award for defined contribution schemes.
The pension cost charge for the year for this scheme was £1,107,000 (2015: £1,193,000).

(c)

In addition to the above schemes, Personal Retirement Savings Accounts exist for staff working for the CIPD in Ireland. The
pension cost charge for the year for these accounts was £16,000 (2015: £121,000). The prior year’s cost includes £100,000
in relation to retirement benefits.
The pension costs charged in the statement of financial activities for the defined contribution schemes represent
contributions payable into the schemes in relation to the accounting period.

13

Provisions for liabilities and charges

Group and Institute
			
Dilapidations
			

2016
£’000
60
60

2015
£’000
60
60

Delapidations represent the estimated costs of payments required to make good leased property under the termination of
the lease relating to our property in Grosvenor Gardens.

14

Obligations under operating leases

Group
			
The future minimum operation lease payments for land
and buildings are as follows:		
		 Within one year
		 Between two and five years
			

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

256
638
894

208
592
800

In respect of other operating leases with commitments expiring:
		 Within one year
129
		 Between two and five years
36
		 Over five years
–
			
165

139
172
72
383

Institute
			
The future minimum operation lease payments for land
and buildings are as follows:		
		 Within one year
		 Between two and five years
			

2016
£’000

2015
£’000

101
360
461

133
389
522

In respect of other operating leases with commitments expiring:
		 Within one year
128
		 Between two and five years
32
		 Over five years
–
			
160

139
169
72
380
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Related party transactions
Anna Kyprianou, a Trustee during the year, is Dean and Pro Vice Chancellor of Middlesex University Business School, which
runs student programmes that lead to the CIPD qualification. During the year, the CIPD invoiced Middlesex University
Business School £33,851 (2015: £6,604) for licence fees and related costs for the student programmes and exhibition fees.
£nil (2015: £nil) was outstanding at the end of the year.
Anne Sharp, who also served as a Trustee during the year, is Chief Executive of ACAS. During the year, the CIPD invoiced
ACAS £1,800 in relation to training. £nil (2015: £nil) was outstanding at the end of the year.
William Morton, a director of CIPD Enterprises Limited, provides consultancy services to the group through ODHRM
Consultants Limited. During the year, ODHRM Consultants Limited invoiced the group £48,178 (2015: £21,517). £3,640
(2015: £4,021) was outstanding at the end of the year.
Peter Cheese, Chief Executive of the Institute, joined the Board of BPP University, which is a CIPD qualification centre, in
February 2015 as a non-executive director. During the year, the Institute invoiced BPP University £2,407 (2015: £2,814) for
licence fees and related costs. £nil (2015: £1,500) was outstanding at the end of the year.
Cary Cooper, who was elected as President of the CIPD in December 2015, is a director of Robertson Cooper Ltd, a
company which partners with businesses to improve employee culture and well-being. During the year, Robertson Cooper
invoiced the CIPD £185 for speaker expenses in relation to the CIPD’s London conference.
All of the above transactions were made on a commercial basis at market value.

16

Indemnity insurance
Funds are provided to protect the charity from loss arising from the neglects or defaults of its Trustees, employees and
agents. The cost of indemnity insurance in the year was £10,168 (2015: £10,168).

17

Post balance sheet event
As described in note 2(b), CIPD Middle East FZ LLC was incorporated on 13 August 2015 in Dubai and provides
membership services in the region. The entity was initially funded with capital of £500,000 from CIPD Enterprises Ltd,
which in turn received a capital injection for the same amount from its parent company, the CIPD. In August 2016, a further
capital contribution of £1,500,000 was made to fund the entity through its start-up phase.

18

Incorporation
The Institute is incorporated by Royal Charter and therefore has no company registration number.
The Institute is a registered charity under the Charities Act 2011 and the Charities and Trustees Investment (Scotland) Act
2005. Its charity registration numbers are 1079797 and SCO45154.
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Restated Consolidated Statement of Financial Activities for the Year Ended 30 June 2015

General
fund

		
		

Designated
fund

Restricted
fund

Total
2015

		
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
Income from:			
Charitable activities				
To advance the management and
development of people through:
Membership services and education
22,879
–
–
22,879
Research
–
–
249
249
Branches
453
–
–
453
Other trading activities
Commercial income
17,361
–
–
17,361
Investments
283
–
–
283
					
Total income
40,976
–
249
41,225
			
Expenditure on:			
Raising funds
Commercial expenditure
(17,583)
–
–
Investment management costs
(46)
–
–
Charitable activities			
Membership services and education
(15,668)
(1,824)
–
Research
(5,512)
(388)
(150)
Branches
(2,364)
(46)
–
Total expenditure
(41,173)
			
Net gains/(losses) on investments
1,393

(2,258)

Net income/(expenditure)
1,196
			
Transfers between funds
(2,500)
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined
benefit pension scheme
(1,472)
Foreign exchange movement
(47)

(2,258)

–

(150)
–
99

(17,583)
(46)
(17,492)
(6,050)
(2,410)
(43,581)
1,393
(963)

2,500

–

–

–
–

–
–

(1,472)
(47)

242

99

(2,482)

Net movement in funds

(2,823)

Reconciliation of funds
		
Net fund balances brought forward

22,425

2,060

–

24,485

Net fund balances carried forward

19,602

2,302

99

22,003
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